### PUBLIC HEARING Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9 Bylaw No. 1344-22 Tuesday, January 10, 2023 6:00 pm

### 1. Public Hearing Called to Order

- 2. A Public Hearing is Council's opportunity to hear from anyone who is affected by the proposed bylaw. General rules of conduct when a Public Hearing is held are as follows:
  - The developer and/or proponent is given the first opportunity to present to Council and the public. After the public has made their statements, the developer has the opportunity to rebut or answer any questions.
  - Members of the public will be invited to speak to the subject matter. I will ask members of public who wish to speak to state their name for the record. The speaking time limit is 5 minutes per speaker. If you have previously submitted a written response, unless you have new information to present, be assured that Council has read your letter. Please do not come to the podium to read your submitted response.
  - The Reeve will call for any additional speakers to make sure everyone wishing to speak has had the opportunity to do so. As this is not a situation for debate, speakers may come up one time only.
  - Following all presentations from members of public, the developer has the opportunity to rebut or answer any questions, Council may ask questions to Administration and/or developer.
  - Council will then close the Public Hearing. This ends the opportunity for the public or Administration to provide information on the matter.
- 3. Advertising Requirement

This Public Hearing has been advertised in accordance with Section 606 of the Municipal Government Act. This Public Hearing was advertised in the Pincher Creek Echo on December 28, 2022 and January 4, 2023, as well as the MD website and MD Social Media pages.

4. Purpose of the Hearing

The purpose of Bylaw No. 1344-22 is for regulating and providing for the terms, conditions, rates and charges for the supply and use of water services, wastewater services and solid waste services provided by the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9.

5. Presentations:

VERBAL:

- Lynn Calder
- Rick Czerny (Beaver Mines Community Association)

### WRITTEN:

The following were received and are part of the public package of information.

• Beaver Mines Community Association

• Linde Farley/Dave McNeil

• Rick Czarny

- James Miller
- Burt Nyrose

- 6. Closing Comments
- 7. Adjournment from Public Hearing

#### MUNICIPAL DISTRICT OF PINCHER CREEK NO. 9 IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA BYLAW No. 1344-22

BEING a Bylaw of the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9 in the Province of Alberta, for the purpose of regulating and providing for the terms, conditions, rates and charges for the supply and use of water services, wastewater services and solid waste services provided by the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9.

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3 of the *Municipal Government Act* the purposes of a municipality include providing services, facilities or other things that, in the opinion of council, are necessary or desirable for all or a part of the municipality;

AND WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7 of the *Municipal Government Act* a council of a municipality may pass bylaws for municipal purposes respecting public utilities and the enforcement of bylaws;

NOW **THEREFORE** the Council of the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9, in the Province of Alberta, duly assembled, enacts as follows:

# **PART I - TITLE AND DEFINITIONS**

### 1. Bylaw Title

This Bylaw shall be known as "The Utilities Bylaw".

### 2. Definitions and Interpretation

(1) In this Bylaw, unless the context otherwise requires:

- (a) "Account" means an agreement between a Customer and the MD for the supply of Utility Services of which the terms of this Bylaw shall form a part and includes the amounts payable from time to time by the Customer to the MD, as the context requires;
- (b) "Additional Overstrength Surcharge" means a rate, fee or charge imposed upon a Person who releases Wastewater to the Wastewater System that exceeds one or more constituent concentrations set out in Schedule "G";
- (c) "Bulk Waste" includes furniture, appliances, mattresses, bicycles, or other oversize items not capable of being placed in a Waste Receptacle or a Garbage bag for collection;
- (d) "Chief Administrative Officer" or "CAO" means the Chief Administrative Officer of the MD or the Chief Administrative Officer's delegate;
- (e) "Cistern" means a waterproof holding tank or receptacle for holding potable water to meet on Property water demand;
- (f) "Collection Area" means, in respect to Solid Waste Services, the hamlets of Lundbreck and Beaver Mines;
- (g) "Collection Schedule" means the set schedule regarding the provision of Solid Waste Services approved by the Chief Administrative Officer for the collection of Household Waste within the Collection Area and from Properties authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer to receive Solid Waste Services;
- (h) "Commercial Waste" means any Waste, other than Household Waste, generated by commercial, industrial, institutional, community, governmental, religious or charitable organizations;
- (i) "Construction Waste" means any Waste generated by constructing, altering, repairing or demolishing any structure;
- (j) "Council" means the council of the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9;

- (k) "Cross Connection" means any temporary, permanent, or potential connection of any piping, fixture, fitting, container or appliance to the Water System that may allow backflow to occur, including but not limited to: swivel or changeover devices, removable sections, jumper connections, and bypass arrangements;
- (l) "Cross Connection Control Device" means a testable CSA certified device that prevents the backflow of water;
- (m) "Curb Stop" means a valve connected to a Service Connection enabling the turning-on and turning-off of the water supply to a Customer's Property;
- (n) "Customer" means any Person receiving Utility Services and, where the context or circumstances so require, includes any Person who is named on an Account, or who makes or has made an application for Utility Services or otherwise seeks to receive Utility Services, and also includes any Person acting as an agent or representative of a Customer;
- (o) "Distribution System" means the portion of a water supply system whose primary purpose is to convey potable water from the Transmission System under controlled flow and pressure conditions to Customer Property. Small diameter Water Main's with many Service Connections;
- (p) "Dwelling" means a private residence with sleeping and cooking facilities used or intended to be use as a residence;
- (q) "Engineering Design Standards" means the MD's Minimum Engineering Design Standards, or in the absence of such standards, generally accepted municipal engineering standards;
- (r) "Emergency" means a condition that creates an imminent danger or a real possibility of Property damage, or personal injury, or when a condition or situation is declared to be an emergency by Council, or the Federal or Provincial Crown, or other civil authority having jurisdiction;
- (s) "Facilities" means any infrastructure forming part of:
  - (i) the Water System, including without limitation: water treatment plants, reservoirs, pumping stations, Water Mains, Water Service Lines, bulk water stations, Curb Stops, valves, fittings, fire hydrants, chambers, Meters, Cross Connection Control Devices and all other equipment and machinery of whatever kind owned by the MD that is used to produce and supply potable water to Customers; or
  - (ii) the Wastewater System, including without limitation: Wastewater treatment plants, Wastewater lagoons, pumping stations, Wastewater Mains, Wastewater Service Lines, valves, fittings, chambers, Meters, and all other equipment and machinery of whatever kind owned by the MD that is used for the collection, transmission, treatment and disposal of Wastewater; as the context requires.
- (t) "Garbage Bag" means a non-returnable plastic bag meeting the following specifications:
  - (i) made from sturdy material which is strong enough to withstand normal handling and lifting;
  - (ii) can be securely tied at the top;
  - (iii) is in good condition, free from rips and tears; and
  - (iv) not exceeding 20 kilograms including its contents.
- (u) "Hazardous Waste" has the same meaning as in the *Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act* and associated regulations;
- (v) "Household Waste" means unwanted refuse or materials intended for disposal generated by normal human living processes and domestic activities;

- (w) "Ion Exchange Water Softener" means any water treatment device that exchanges the naturally-occurring minerals in water with salt or any other chemical in the process called ion exchange;
- (x) "Liquid Waste" means any Waste, other than Hazardous Waste, having a moisture-content in excess of 30%;
- (y) "MD" means the municipal corporation of the Municipal District of Pincher Creek No. 9 and its duly authorized employees, agents, contractors and other representatives or the geographic area contained within the boundaries thereof, as the context requires;
- (z) "Meter" means the individual or compound water meter, of a make and model approved by the MD, and all other equipment and instruments, including but not limited to, radio frequency units and remote meter reading devices supplied and used by the MD to calculate and register the amount of water consumed relative to the land and buildings that the Meter is designed to monitor;
- (aa)"Multiple Dwelling" means a wholly or partially residential development containing more than one Dwelling, whether or not the development is within a single building;
- (bb) "Non-Residential Premises" means any building that is used for commercial, industrial or institutional purposes and does not include Residential Premises;
- (cc) "Occupant" means a Person occupying a Property, including a lessee or licensee, who has actual use, possession or control of the Property;
- (dd) "Overstrength" means Wastewater released to the Wastewater System that is higher in concentration for one or more constituent concentrations set out in Schedule "G" of this Bylaw;
- (ee) "Overstrength Surcharge" means a rate, fee or charge imposed upon a Person who releases Wastewater to the Wastewater System that exceeds one or more constituent concentrations set out in Schedule "G";
- (ff) "Owner" means:
  - (i) in the case of land, the Person who is registered under the *Land Titles Act* as the owner of the fee simple estate in the parcel of land; or
  - (ii) in the case of any property other than land, the Person in lawful possession of it;
- (gg) "Peace Officer" includes a Bylaw Enforcement Officer appointed by the MD, a Community Peace Officer whose appointment includes enforcement of the MD's Bylaws and a member of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police;
- (hh) "Person" means any individual, firm, partnership, association, corporation, trustee, executor, administrator or other legal representative to whom the context applies according to law;
- (ii) "Private Drainage Line" means that portion of a Service Connection that extends from the property line to an improvement or location on a Customer's Property that receives, or is to receive Wastewater Services, comprised of the Customer-owned assembly of pipes, fittings, fixtures, traps and appurtenances for the collection and transmission of Wastewater into the Wastewater System;
- (jj) "Private Wastewater Disposal System" means an on-site Wastewater treatment system for the treatment and disposal of Wastewater that is not connected to the Wastewater System, as defined in the *Alberta Private Sewage Systems Standard of Practice 2015* adopted by the *Private Sewage Disposal Systems Regulation;*

- (kk) "Private Water Line" means that portion of a Service Connection that extends from the property line to an improvement or location on a Customer's Property that receives, or is to receive, Water Services, comprised of the Customer-owned assembly of pipes, fittings, fixtures, traps and appurtenances for providing water to a Customer's Property, excluding the Meter owned by the MD;
- (11) "Property" means:
  - (i) in the case of land, a parcel of land including any buildings; or
  - (ii) in other cases, personal property;
- (mm) "Recreational Vehicle" means a vehicular or trailer type unit designed to provide temporary living quarters for recreational, camping, travel or seasonal use;
- (nn) "Residential Premises" means any building that is used as a Dwelling and includes a Multiple Dwelling;
- (oo) "Redevelopment" means construction of new residence or dwelling within a lot or parcel, typically after demolishing the existing buildings; or addition to existing dwelling resulting in intensification beyond original intended use.
- (pp) "Rural" means locations outside of Hamlet boundaries within the MD;
- (qq) "Service Connection" means all of the Facilities required to achieve a physical connection between:
  - (i) the MD's Water Main and the structure, improvement or location that receives Water Services, to allow a Customer to receive potable water, which includes a Water Service Line and a Private Water Line; or
  - (ii) the MD's Wastewater Main and the structure, improvement or location that receives Wastewater Services, to allow a Customer to discharge Wastewater, which includes a Wastewater Service Line and a Private Wastewater Line; as the context requires;
- (rr) "Solid Waste Services" means the collection of Household Waste from Properties within the Collection Area or other Properties authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer;
- (ss) "Subsidiary Meter" means a privately owned Meter installed on Property at the Customer's expense and utilized strictly for the Customer's purposes;
- (tt) "Terms and Conditions" means the terms and conditions in respect of Water Services, Wastewater Services and Solid Waste Services described in Schedules "A", "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", and "G";
- (uu) "Transmission System" means any piping whose primary purpose is to convey treated water from the water treatment equipment or pumping stations to the Distribution System, reservoirs, tanks, and bulk fill stations serving an area. Large diameter pipe with minimal connections;
- (vv) "Utility Services" means Water Services, Wastewater Services or Solid Waste Services or any combination of them;
- (ww) "Utility Services Guidelines" means those guidelines, procedures, protocols, requirements, specifications or standards adopted by the Chief Administrative Officer from time to time pursuant to section 6 of this Bylaw;
   (xx) "Violation Ticket" has the same meaning as in the *Provincial Offences*.
- (xx) "Violation Ticket" has the same meaning as in the *Provincial Offences Procedure Act;*
- (yy) "Waste" means any discarded material intended for disposal and includes but is not limited to Bulk Waste, Commercial Waste, Construction Waste, Hazardous Waste, Household Waste and Liquid Waste;

- (zz) "Waste Collection Fee" means the fixed monthly service fee charged to the Owner of a Property that is provided Solid Waste Services;
- (aaa) "Waste Collector" means any authorized employee or agent of the MD performing Waste collection activities;
- (bbb) "Waste Receptacle" means a sturdy reusable container of rust resistant material, of a tapered cylindrical design, having a smooth rim, two rigid fixed handles and a removable watertight lid, and meeting the following requirements:
  - (i) not exceeding 20 kilograms including its contents;
  - (ii) no smaller than 60 liters and no larger than 100 litres; and
  - (iii) in a safe, serviceable condition.
- (ccc) "Wastewater" means the composite of water and water-carried wastes associated with the use of water for drinking, food preparation, washing, hygiene, sanitation or other domestic purposes, but does not include wastewater from industrial processes;
- (ddd) "Wastewater Main" means those pipes installed for the collection and transmission of Wastewater within the MD to which a Service Connection may be connected;
- (eee) "Wastewater Service Line" means that portion of a Service Connection owned by the MD that extends from the Wastewater Main to the property line of a Property that receives, or is to receive, Wastewater Services;
- (fff) "Wastewater Services" includes the collection, transmission, treatment and disposal of Wastewater, as applicable, and associated services offered to the Customer under this Bylaw;
- (ggg) "Wastewater System" means the Facilities used by the MD for the collection, transmission, treatment and disposal of Wastewater, which is deemed to be a municipal public utility within the meaning of the *Municipal Government Act;*
- (hhh) "Water Conservation and Demand Management Measures" means restrictions upon the use of water for non-essential purposes, including but not limited to: irrigation, watering livestock, washing of vehicles, driveways or sidewalks, and any other purpose where water is utilized externally to a building and on any certain day or for a certain time period;
- (iii) "Water Main" means those pipes installed for the conveyance of potable water within the MD to which Service Connections may be connected;
- (jjj) "Water Service Line" means that portion of a Service Connection owned by the MD that extends from the Water Main to the property line of a Property that receives, or is to receive, Water Service;
- (kkk) "Water Services" means the provision of potable water by the MD to a Customer's Property and associated services offered to the Customer under this Bylaw;
- (lll) "Water System" means the Facilities used by the MD to supply potable water to Customers, which is deemed to be a municipal public utility within the meaning of the *Municipal Government Act*.

(2) In this Bylaw, a citation of or reference to any act or regulation of the Province of Alberta or of Canada, or of any other bylaw of the MD, is a citation of or reference to that act, regulation, or bylaw as amended or replaced.

# PART II - PROVISION OF UTILITY SERVICES

#### **3.** Other Public Utilities Prohibited

The MD or its authorized representatives shall be the exclusive provider of Utility Services, where available, to eligible Customers within the boundaries of the MD.

### 4. Terms and Conditions

All Utility Services shall be provided in accordance with Schedules "A", "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", and "G" as applicable.

## 5. Fees and Charges

(1) The MD will provide Utility Services to Customers within the MD at the rates, fees or other charges specified in Schedule "E", as may be amended by Council from time to time.

(2) Subject to subsection (3), additional services provided by the MD to a Customer will be billed to the Customer in accordance with an agreement between the Customer and the MD.

- (3) Additional costs arising from:
  - (a) requirements or requests for specific non-routine services not more particularly described in this section or the acts or omissions of any particular Customer or defined group of Customers, or
  - (b)repairs or remedies of any loss or damage to Facilities or other property that is caused by a Customer or any other party for whom a Customer is responsible in law, including, without limitation, any costs or damages described in any judgment of a court in the MD's favour, may, at the Chief Administrative Officer's sole option, and in addition to any other legally available remedies, be added to a Customer's Account as an additional amount due and payable by the Customer to the MD.

(4) If a Property is required to connect to the Water System, pursuant to section 2(1) of Schedule "B" of this Bylaw, and the Wastewater System, pursuant to section 2(1) of Schedule "C" of this Bylaw, and the Owner of that Property connects to both of those systems within 90 days of the Chief Administrative Officer providing notice of a date to connect to those systems, the MD will waive the fee for the initial Supply of the Meter as set out in Schedule "E" of the Bylaw.

### 6. Utility Services Guidelines

(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Chief Administrative Officer may adopt, amend, repeal and replace Utility Services Guidelines from time to time as the Chief Administrative Officer deems advisable.

(2) Utility Services Guidelines must not be inconsistent with this Bylaw and, in the event of an inconsistency, this Bylaw shall prevail.

(3) Without limiting the generality of subsection (1), Utility Services Guidelines may deal with any or all of the following subject matters:

- (a) procedures or requirements that a Customer must comply with before a Service Connection is installed or activated, or before Utility Services are provided, or as a condition of ongoing provision of Utility Services;
- (b)Customer Accounts, including, without limitation, provisions or requirements concerning: opening an Account, making payments on an Account, consequences for failure to pay Accounts in full, lost bills, dishonoured cheques, collection of delinquent Accounts, adjusting improperly billed Accounts, Utility Services application fees, handling of confidential Customer Account information, closing an Account, and any other matter relating to Customer Accounts;
- (c) measurement of water consumption, including without limitation provision or requirements concerning: meter inspection and testing, meter settings, chambers and installations, meter reading, disputes concerning meter data, estimates of consumption or Subsidiary Meters, remote meter reading devices, relocation of meters, access for meter readers, and adjustments to bills when

meters have malfunctioned;

- (d)procedures or requirements concerning investigating Customer complaints and concerns;
- (e)procedures or requirements for provision of temporary Water Services, including without limitation Water Services provided during the construction phase of a development;
- (f) procedures or requirements that a Customer must comply with in order to access a MD bulk water station;
- (g)procedures or requirements for upgrading, re-sizing, relocating or otherwise changing a Service Connection, whether at the instigation of the MD or at the request of a Customer;
- (h)the turn-on and turn-off of Water Services, whether at the instigation of the MD or at the request of a Customer; and
- (i) supply of water for firefighting purposes, including without limitation procedures or requirements concerning the maintenance of public and private fire hydrants and permissible use of water from fire hydrants.

#### 7. Notices

In any case in which written notice is required to be provided to a Customer pursuant to this Bylaw, the Chief Administrative Officer may serve notice:

- (1)personally;
- (2)by e-mail if the Customer has consented to receive documents from the MD by e-mail and has provided an e-mail address to the MD for that purpose;
- (3)by mailing or delivering a copy of the notice to the last known address of the Customer as disclosed in the MD's assessment roll for the Property; or
- (4) if the Customer does not answer the door, by placing the written notice on the door of the Property.

### 8. Authority of the Chief Administrative Officer

Without restricting any other power, duty or function granted by this Bylaw, the Chief Administrative Officer is authorized to, in accordance with this Bylaw and all other applicable laws:

- (1) take any steps and carry out any actions required to give effect to, and enforce, the provisions of this Bylaw;
- (2) establish forms for the purpose of this Bylaw; and
- (3) delegate any powers, duties or functions under this Bylaw to an employee of the Municipality.

#### **PART III – ENFORCEMENT**

#### 9. Offence

A Person who contravenes any provision of this Bylaw is guilty of an offence.

#### 10. Continuing Offence

In the case of an offence that is of a continuing nature, a contravention constitutes a separate offence in respect of each day, or part of a day, on which it continues and a Person guilty of such an offence is liable to a fine in an amount not less than that established by this Bylaw for each such day.

#### **11. Vicarious Liability**

For the purposes of this Bylaw, an or omission by an employee or agent of a Person is deemed also to be an act or omission of the Person if the act or omission occurred in the course of the employee's employment with the Person, or in the course of the agent's exercising the powers or performing the duties on behalf of the Person under their agency relationship.

#### 12. Corporations and Partnerships

(1) When a corporation commits an offence under this Bylaw, every principal, director, manager, employee or agent of the corporation who authorized the act or omission that constitutes the offence or assented to or acquiesced or participated in the act or omission that constitutes the offence is guilty of the offence whether or not the corporation has been prosecuted for the offence.

(2) If a partner in a partnership is guilty of an offence under this Bylaw, each partner in that partnership who authorized the act or omission that constitutes the offence or assented to or acquiesced or participated in the act or omission that constitutes the offence is guilty of the offence.

#### 13. Fines and Penalties

(1) A Person who is guilty of an offence is liable to a fine in an amount not less than \$100.00 and not exceeding \$10,000.00.

(2) Without restricting the generality of subsection (1) the fine amounts established for use on Violation Tickets, if a voluntary payment option is offered, are as set out in Schedule "F".

#### 14. Violation Ticket

(1) A Peace Officer is hereby authorized and empowered to issue a Violation Ticket pursuant to the *Provincial Offences Procedure Act* to any Person who the Peace Officer has reasonable and probable grounds to believe has contravened any provision of this Bylaw.

(2) Subject to the *Provincial Offences Procedure Act* and the regulations thereunder, if a Violation Ticket is issued in respect of an offence, the Violation Ticket may;

- (a) specify the fine amount established by this Bylaw for the offence; or
- (b)require a Person to appear in court without the alternative of making a voluntary payment.

#### **15. Voluntary Payment**

A Person who commits an offence may:

- (1) if a Violation Ticket is issued in respect of the offence; and
- (2) if the Violation Ticket specifies the fine amount established by this Bylaw for the offence; make a voluntary payment by submitting to a Clerk of the Provincial Court, on or before the initial appearance date indicated on the Violation Ticket, the specified penalty set out on the Violation Ticket.

### 16. Obstruction

No Person shall obstruct, hinder or impede any authorized representative of the MD in the exercise of any of their powers or duties pursuant to this Bylaw.

#### PART IV - GENERAL

#### 17. Schedules

The following schedules are included in, and form part of, this Bylaw:

- (a) Schedule "A" General Terms and Conditions of Utility Services;
- (b) Schedule "B" Terms and Conditions of Water Services;
- (c) Schedule "C" Terms and Conditions of Wastewater Services;
- (d) Schedule "D" Terms and Conditions of Solid Waste Services;
- (e) Schedule "E" Rates, Fees and Charges;
- (f) Schedule "F" Specified Penalties; and
- (g) Schedule "G" Wastewater Overstrength Limits

#### 18. Severability

Every provision of this Bylaw is independent of all other provisions and if any provision of this Bylaw is declared invalid for any reason by a Court of competent jurisdiction, all other provisions of this Bylaw shall remain valid and enforceable.

#### 19. Repeal

This Bylaw repeals Bylaw 1320-20 The Utilities Bylaw.

#### 20. Enactment

This Bylaw takes effect upon being passed.

READ a first time this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2022.

A PUBLIC HEARING was held this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2022.

READ a second time this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2022.

READ a third and time and finally PASSED on the \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2022.

Reeve, Rick Lemire

Chief Administrative Officer, Roland Milligan

## SCHEDULE "A"

#### GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF UTILITY SERVICES

#### PART 1 - GENERAL WATER, WASTEWATER AND SOLID WASTE PROVISIONS

#### **1. Duty to Supply**

(1) The MD shall continue, insofar as there is sufficient capacity and supply, to supply Water Services, upon such terms as Council considers advisable, to any Customer within the MD situated along a Water Main owned and operated by the MD.

(2) The MD shall continue, insofar as there is sufficient capacity and supply, to supply Wastewater Services, upon such terms as Council considers advisable, to any Customer within the MD situated along a Wastewater Main owned and operated by the MD.

(3) The MD shall continue, insofar as is reasonably practicable, to supply Solid Waste Services, upon such terms as Council considers advisable, to any Customer within the Collection Area.

(4) All Utility Services provided by the MD shall be provided in accordance with these Terms and Conditions, and these Terms and Conditions shall apply to and be binding upon all Customers receiving Utility Services from the MD.

#### 2. No Guarantee of Continuous Supply

(1) The MD does not guarantee or warrant the continuous supply of potable water and the MD reserves the right to change the operating pressure, restrict the availability of Water Services or to disconnect or shut-off Water Services, in whole or in part, with or without notice, in accordance with this Bylaw.

(2) Customers depending upon a continuous and uninterrupted supply or pressure of water or who require or have processes or equipment that require particularly clear or pure water shall provide such facilities, as they are considered necessary, to ensure a continuous and uninterrupted supply, pressure or quality of water required for this use. The MD assumes no responsibility for same.

(3) The MD does not guarantee or warrant the continuous capacity to collect, store and transmit Wastewater and the MD reserves the right to restrict the availability of Wastewater Services or to disconnect or shut-off Wastewater Services, in whole or in part, with or without notice, in accordance with this Bylaw.

(4) The MD does not guarantee or warrant the continuous capacity to collect, store and handle Solid Waste and the MD reserves the right to restrict the availability of Solid Waste Services or to discontinue Solid Waste Services, in whole or in part, with or without notice, in accordance with this Bylaw.

(5) The MD shall not be liable for any damages caused by the provision of Utility Services, including without limitation losses caused by a break within the MD's Water System or Wastewater System or caused by the interference or cessation of water supply including those necessary or advisable regarding the repair or proper maintenance of the MD's Water System or Wastewater System, or generally for any accident due to the operation of the MD's Water System, Wastewater System or Solid Waste Services or for the disconnection of a Service Connection or shut-off of a Utility Service, nor by reason of the water containing sediments, deposits, or other foreign matter.

### PART II - SERVICE CONNECTIONS

#### **3.** Application for Service Connection

(1) A Customer requesting Utility Services involving a new Service Connection shall apply to the Chief Administrative Officer by submitting an application in a form acceptable to, or adopted by, the Chief Administrative Officer, paying all associated fees and supplying information regarding the location of the Property to be served, the manner in which the Service Connection will be utilized, and any other information that may be reasonably required by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(2) Upon receipt of all required application documents, information and fees, verification of the Customer's identity and the accuracy of the information, the Chief Administrative Officer will advise the Customer whether and on what terms the MD is prepared to supply Utility Services to the Customer, the type and character of the Service Connection(s) it is prepared to approve for the Customer, and any conditions, including without limitation, payments by the Customer, that must be satisfied as a condition of installation of a Service Connection(s) and supply of Utility Services.

#### 4. Easements and Rights-of-Way

At the request of the Chief Administrative Officer, the Customer shall grant or cause to be granted to the MD, without cost to the MD, such easements or rights-of-way over, upon or under Property owned or controlled by the Customer as the MD may reasonably require for the construction, installation, maintenance, repair, and operation of the Water System or Wastewater System.

#### 5. Design and Engineering Requirements for Service Connections

Detailed requirements for engineering and construction of Service Connections are set out in the Engineering Design Standards, or as may be otherwise directed by the Chief Administrative Officer. It is the Customer's responsibility to supply, at the Customer's cost, any plans and engineering reports pertaining to the Service Connection that the MD may reasonably require, signed and sealed by a professional engineer.

#### 6. Construction of Service Connections

(1) The MD shall provide and install all Facilities up to the property line, but the Customer shall be responsible for, and shall pay, for the provision and installation of the Water Service Line or Wastewater Service Line as set out within Schedule "E".

(2) The MD shall waive customer costs set out in subsection (1) if a Customer is located within the Hamlet of Beaver Mines and construction has occurred prior to December 31, 2022. Those costs will be paid for by the MD due to the bulk of the construction being installed under the MD's supervision with use of grant funding to complete the work.

(3) The Customer shall be responsible for, and shall bear all costs associated with, the installation and condition of the Private Water Line or Private Drainage Line and all other piping and equipment or other Facilities of any kind whatsoever on the Customer's side of the property line and:

- (a) shall ensure that the Customer's proposed Private Water Line or Private Drainage Line, as applicable receives approval from the MD prior to construction;
- (b)shall ensure that all work undertaken on behalf of the Customer is performed by qualified workers holding appropriate certifications, in accordance with this Bylaw and applicable requirements set out in the Engineering Design Standards and the Utility Services Guidelines; and
- (c) shall not backfill the excavation until such time as the MD has inspected and approved of the work.

(4) If an excavation is backfilled in contravention of subsection (3)(c), the Chief Administrative Officer may, in addition to any other rights and remedies that may be available to the MD, require the Customer in question to dig out and expose the said work at the Customer's cost.

# 7. Repair and Maintenance of Water and Wastewater Service Lines

The MD is responsible for the repair, maintenance and replacement of Water Service Lines and Wastewater Service Lines, but the Customer shall be responsible for, and shall pay, all costs incurred by the MD in connection with the maintenance, repair or replacement of the Water Service Line and Wastewater Service Line serving the Customer's Property.

### 8. Repair and Maintenance of Private Drainage and Water Lines

(1) The Customer is responsible for the repair, maintenance and replacement of Private Drainage Lines and Private Water Lines located on the Customer's Property, and for all associated costs.

(2) The Chief Administrative Officer may require a Customer to perform work described in subsection (1) if the Chief Administrative Officer, in his or her discretion, considers such work to be necessary or desirable for the protection or proper operation of the Water System or Wastewater System, as applicable.

(3) Where the Chief Administrative Officer requires a Customer to perform work pursuant to subsection (2), the Chief Administrative Officer shall establish a deadline by which the work in question must be completed by the Customer.

(4) If a Customer fails to complete, by the deadline established under subsection (3), all work required by the Chief Administrative Officer, to the satisfaction of the Chief Administrative Officer, the MD may, at its option, and in addition to any other remedy available, enter onto the Customer's Property and perform the said work.

(5) The Customer shall pay all costs incurred by the MD in performing work pursuant to subsection (4)

## 9. Customer Responsibility for Service Connection

(1) The Customer assumes full responsibility for the proper use of any Service Connection and any Utility Services provided by the MD and for the condition, suitability and safety of any and all devices or equipment necessary for receiving Utility Services that are located on the Customer's Property.

(2) The Customer shall be responsible for determining whether the Customer requires any devices to protect the Customer's Property from damage that may result from the use of a Service Connection or Utility Services, or to protect the safety or reliability of the Water System or Wastewater System. The Customer shall provide and install any such devices at the Customer's sole expense.

# **10.** Compliance with Requirements and Use of Service Connection

(1) A Customer shall ensure that the Customer's facilities comply with the requirements of this Bylaw, all applicable statutes, regulations, codes, and standards and with the MD's specifications.

(2) A Customer shall not use a Service Connection or any Utility Service received in a manner so as to interfere with any other Customer's use of a Service Connection, or Utility Services.

(3) A Customer who has breached subsection (2) shall, at the Chief Administrative Officer's request, take whatever action is required to correct such interference or disturbance at the Customer's expense.

# 11. Abandonment of Service Connection

Whenever a Customer wishes to abandon a Service Connection, the Customer shall first obtain approval from the Chief Administrative Officer for the method and location of abandonment and the Customer shall assume responsibility for all costs associated with the same.

### **12. Ownership of Facilities**

(1) The MD retains ownership of all Facilities necessary to provide Utility Services to a Customer, up to the property line, as well as the Curb Stop and Meter even if located on the Customer's Property, unless a written agreement between the MD and a Customer specifically provides otherwise.

(2) Payment made by a Customer for costs incurred by the MD for supplying and installing Facilities does not entitle the Customer to ownership of any such Facilities, unless a written agreement between the MD and the Customer specifically provides otherwise.

### **13. Access to Facilities**

(1) No Person shall obstruct or impede the MD's free and direct access to any Facilities.

(2) A Customer shall be responsible for managing vegetation on the Property owned or controlled by the Customer to maintain adequate clearances and reduce the risk of contact with the MD's Facilities.

(3) A Customer shall not install or allow to be installed on Property owned or controlled by the Customer any temporary or permanent structures that could interfere with the proper and safe operation of the MD's Facilities or result in noncompliance with applicable statutes, regulations, standards or codes.

(4) Where a Customer contravenes any provision of this section and fails to remedy such contravention within ten (10) days after receiving from the Chief Administrative Officer a notice in writing to do so, then in addition to any other legal remedy available the Chief Administrative Officer may take any steps necessary to remedy the contravention and may charge any costs of doing so to the Customer's Account.

## 14. Interference with or Damage to Facilities

No Person shall interfere with or alter any Facilities or permit the same to be done by any Person other than an authorized agent of the MD, except as authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer.

# 15. Protection of Facilities on Customer's Property

The Customer shall furnish and maintain, at no cost to the MD, the necessary space and protective barriers to safeguard Facilities installed or to be installed upon the Customer's Property. If the Customer refuses, the Chief Administrative Officer may, at his or her option, furnish and maintain, and charge the Customer for furnishing and maintaining, the necessary protection. Such space and protective barriers shall be in conformity with applicable laws and regulations and subject to the Chief Administrative Officer's specifications and approval.

### 16. Customer to Pay Relocation Costs

The Customer shall pay all costs of relocating the MD's Facilities at the Customer's request, if such relocation is for the Customer's convenience, or if necessary to remedy any violation of law or regulation caused by the Customer. If requested by the MD, the Customer shall pay the estimated cost of the relocation in advance.

### **17. Prohibited Extension of Customer Owned Facilities**

A Customer shall not extend or permit the extension of a Private Water Line, Private Wastewater Line or any other Customer-owned piping, equipment or other assets that are connected directly or indirectly to the Water System or Wastewater System, beyond the Property in respect of which they are used to supply Utility Services through a Service Connection.

### PART III - UTILITY ACCOUNTS

### **18.** Requirement for Account

(1) The Owner of a Property shall apply for an Account with the MD, in a form acceptable to the MD, and pay all applicable fees as a condition of obtaining Utility

Services, regardless of whether the provision of services requires installation of a new Service Connection(s) or construction of any new Facilities.

(2) In the case of a Multiple Dwelling, the Chief Administrative Officer may require that a separate Account be opened in respect of each Dwelling, as applicable, within the Multiple Dwelling, regardless of the number of Service Connections associated with the Multiple Dwelling.

(3) Except as provided under this Bylaw, the MD shall not grant Utility Services to, or open an Account in the name of, an Occupant that is not the Owner of the Property.

(4) If, notwithstanding subsection (3), Utility Services are currently being provided to an Occupant that is not the Owner of the Property, the Owner of the Property shall forthwith inform the MD of this and apply for an Account with the MD, failing which the MD may deem an application to have been received from the Owner of the Property and open an Account in the Owner's name.

(5) Upon the change of ownership of a Property supplied with Utility Services, the new Owner shall apply for an Account with the MD, failing which the MD may deem an application to have been received from the new Owner of the Property and open an Account in the new Owner's name.

#### **19. Security Deposits**

(1) The Chief Administrative Officer may, in his or her sole discretion, at the time of a Customer's application for Utility Services or at any time thereafter require the Customer to post a security deposit or increase an existing security deposit.

(2) The Chief Administrative Officer may, in his or her sole discretion, determine that a Customer is not required to post a security deposit or is no longer required to maintain an existing security deposit.

(3) A deposit made by a Customer shall be returned to the Customer when a Customer's Utility Services are terminated and the Customer's Account is closed. Where a Customer's Utility Services are terminated and the Customer's Account is closed for non-payment, prior to any refund, the security deposit will be applied to the balance owing by the Customer to the MD.

(4) The MD is not obliged to pay interest on any security deposit held by the MD to a Customer.

#### 20. Obligation to Pay

(1) The Chief Administrative Officer may add to a Customer's Account the charges for all Utility Services provided by the MD to the Customer, and the Customer is obligated to pay in full all such charges without reduction or set-off for any reason whatsoever, on or before the due date for the charges.

(2) For greater certainty, non-receipt of a bill or invoice does not relieve a Customer from the obligation to pay for Utility Services provided.

(3) No reduction in charges for Utility Services will be made because of any interruption of Utility Services supplied to or made available for use by any Customer due to any cause whatsoever.

(4) Billing shall be in accordance with the following:

- (a) The amount of the billing shall be based upon the rates, fees and charges set out in this Bylaw, including, without restriction, Schedule "E";
- (b)Customers shall be billed bi-monthly, or at such frequency as may be determined by the Chief Administrative Officer, in his or her discretion;
- (c)For rates, fees and charges that are based on water consumption, the water consumption through Service Connections shall be determined by the applicable Meter reading, obtained at such frequency as may be determined by the Chief Administrative Officer in his or her discretion, with a

consumption estimate to be utilized in months for which no Meter reading is scheduled to occur;

- (d)Where a Meter reading is not obtainable a water consumption estimate may, at the Chief Administrative Officer's discretion, be used;
- (e) Where water consumption cannot be measured because a Meter has not been installed and Utility Service cannot be shut-off at the Curb Stop, the Customer will be charged the rates applicable to an "Unmetered Services" for Water Services.

(5) Where, pursuant to any provision of this Bylaw, a Service Connection that provides a Utility Service to a Customer has been disconnected, or a Utility Service has otherwise been shut-off or discontinued, the Customer shall continue, for the duration of the disconnection, shut-off or discontinuance of service, to be obligated to pay all applicable non-consumption related rates, fees and charges set out in this Bylaw, including, without restriction, all applicable flat rate or fixed rate charges for Water Services and Wastewater Services.

(6) Every Owner of a Property receiving Solid Waste Services shall pay the applicable rates, fees and charges for Solid Waste Services as set out in this Bylaw.

(7) Payment on Accounts may be made to the MD at such locations designated, and under any payment methods approved, by the Chief Administrative Officer from time to time.

### 21. Past Due Accounts

(1) A late payment charge shall be applied to all charges on a Customer's Account if the Customer's payment has not been received by the MD by the due date. The Customer may also be charged a dishonoured cheque charge for each cheque returned for insufficient funds.

(2) Any charge on a Customer's Account remaining unpaid after the due date will be in arrears and constitute a debt owing to the MD and is recoverable by any or all of the following methods, namely:

- (a) by action, in any Court of competent jurisdiction;
- (b)by disconnecting the Service Connection to the Customer or shutting-off a Utility Service, and imposing a re-connection fee prior to re-establishing Utility Services;
- (c) by the Chief Administrative Officer adding the outstanding Account balance to the tax roll of an Owner of a Property in accordance with the *Municipal Government Act*.

### 22. Discontinuance of Utility Services

(1) In addition to any other remedy available, if the Chief Administrative Officer believes there is any actual or threatened danger to life or Property, or in any other circumstances the nature of which, in the Chief Administrative Officer's sole judgment, requires such action, the Chief Administrative Officer has the right to, without prior notice to the Customer, discontinue the provision of Utility Services to a Customer or Property.

(2) In addition to any other remedy available, the Chief Administrative Officer may discontinue the provision of Utility Services to a Customer or Property after providing forty-eight (48) hours advance notice to the Customer in the following circumstances:

- (a) if the Customer neglects or refuses to pay when due any amounts required to be paid under this Bylaw, which amount is not the subject of a good faith dispute;
- (b)as required by law;
- (c) if the Customer is in violation of any provision of this Bylaw or any agreement between the Customer and the MD for the provision of Utility Services; or

(d)any other similar circumstances to those described above that the Chief Administrative Officer determines, in his or her sole discretion, acting reasonably, require the discontinuance of Utility Services upon forty-eight (48) hours' notice.

(3) When Utility Services are to be discontinued pursuant to subsection (1) or (2), the Chief Administrative Officer may use any means to discontinue the Utility Services, including, without restriction, disconnecting, shutting-off or sealing a Service Connection.

(4) The MD may impose, upon Customers, fees and charges, as set out in this Bylaw, for the discontinuance or disconnection of Utility Services and for the restoration or reconnection of Utility Services and may, in addition, require the Customer to reimburse the MD for any costs incurred by the MD in taking action under this section.

(5) Before the MD restores or reconnects Utility Services, the Customer shall pay:

(a) any amount owing to the MD for the provision of Utility Services;

(b) any amount owing pursuant to subsection (4); and

(c) any applicable security deposit.

## 23. Customer Requested Temporary Turn-off

(1) A Customer may request the MD to temporarily turn-off the water supply to the Customer's Property at the Curb Stop, subject to payment of the applicable fees and charges provided for in this Bylaw.

(2) A temporary turn-off of the water supply does not relieve the Customer from the obligation to pay any fixed rates or other charges associated with the Customer's Property being connected to the Water System.

## 24. The MD's Right of Entry

(1) As a condition of receipt of Utility Services and as operational needs dictate, authorized representatives of the MD shall have the right to enter a Customer's Property at all reasonable times, or at any time during an Emergency, for the purpose of:

- (a) installing, inspecting, maintaining, replacing, testing, monitoring, reading or removing any facilities associated with the Water System or Wastewater System;
- (b)investigating or responding to a Customer complaint or inquiry;
- (c) conducting an unannounced inspection where the Chief Administrative Officer has reasonable grounds to believe that unauthorized use of water or interference with Facilities, including but not limited to a Meter, has occurred or is occurring; and
- (d) for any other purpose incidental to the provision of Utility Services.

(2) The Chief Administrative Officer will make reasonable efforts to notify the Customer in advance of entering a Customer's property or to notify any other Person who is at the Customer's property and appears to have authority to permit entry, except:

- (a) in cases of an Emergency;
- (b)where entry is permitted by order of a court or other authority having jurisdiction;
- (c) where otherwise legally empowered to enter;
- (d)where the purpose of the entry is in accordance with subsection (1)(c) above.

(3) No Person shall hinder or prevent an Inspector from carrying out any of the Chief Administrative Officer's duties under this Bylaw.

(4) The Customer shall pay a no access fee sufficient to cover the MD's reasonable outof-pocket and administrative costs, if the MD's lawful entry to a Customer's Property is prevented or hindered, whether by a Customer not keeping a scheduled appointment or for any other cause.

### **25. Removal of MD Facilities**

Where any Customer discontinues Utility Services furnished by the MD, or the MD lawfully refuses to continue any longer to supply it, any authorized representative of the MD may at all reasonable times enter the Customer's Property to remove any Facilities in or upon such Property.

## 26. False Information

No Person shall supply false information or make inaccurate or untrue statements in a document or information required to be supplied to the MD pursuant to this Bylaw.

#### **SCHEDULE "B"**

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF WATER SERVICES

#### **PART 1 - GENERAL WATER SERVICES PROVISIONS**

#### **1. Water Conservation and Demand Management Measures**

(1) The Chief Administrative Officer may, at such times and for such lengths of time as is considered necessary or advisable, implement Water Conservation and Demand Management Measures to restrict water usage in any or all parts of the MD.

(2) All water restrictions shall be duly advertised by posting on the MD's website or by use of local media, social media, print or otherwise, prior to taking effect.

(3) No Person shall contravene the terms or conditions of any Water Conservation and Demand Management Measures, without first obtaining the Chief Administrative Officer's authorization.

#### 2. Requirement to Connect to Water System

(1) Subject to subsection (3), all developed Properties adjacent to a Distribution System Water Main must connect to the Water System on or before a date set by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(2) Subject to subsection (3), all new development, including redevelopment, on Property adjacent to a Water Main must connect to the Water System prior to occupancy.

(3) The Chief Administrative Officer may, in his or her discretion, exempt a given developed Property, new development or redevelopment from the connection requirement established by subsection (1) or (2), as applicable

(4) Where an exemption has been granted under subsection (3), the Chief Administrative Officer may, at any time after the granting of the exemption, require that the developed Property, new development or redevelopment in question be connected to the Water System within an alternate timeframe prescribed by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(5) If an Owner fails to take all required steps to connect the Owner's Property to the Water System when required, by this section, to do so, the MD may enter onto the Property in question and, at the Owner's sole expense, take any and all steps that the MD considers necessary to connect that Property to the Water System, including, without restriction, constructing a Private Water Line and related facilities on the Property.

#### 3. Alternate Water Supply

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), once a Property is connected to the Water System:
  - (a) no Person shall allow water to be supplied to that Property by way of a well, spring or other source of water supply that is not connected to the Water System; and
  - (b)any existing well, spring or other source of water supply not connected to the Water System, that is located on that Property, shall be decommissioned by the Owner, at the Owner's expense, in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

(2) The Chief Administrative Officer may allow a Person to maintain an alternate source of water supply subject to such terms and conditions as the Chief Administrative Officer deems necessary, which may include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, restrictions on the period of time for which an alternate source of water supply may be used and the purposes for which it may be used.

(3) No Person who has been granted permission by the Chief Administrative Officer to maintain an alternate water supply under this section shall allow the alternate source of water to be connected, directly or indirectly, to the Water System.

### 4. Resale and Supply of Water

No Person shall, unless authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer in writing:

- (1) resell water obtained from the Water System to any other Person;
- (2) supply water obtained from the Water System to any Person who intends to sell the water; or
- (3) supply water from the Water System to any Property that could be supplied with water through its own Service Connection.

### 5. Unauthorized Use of Water

(1) No Person shall use water from the Water System, or allow water obtained from the Water System to be used:

- (a) in a manner that will impede water use by other Customers;
- (b)in a manner that is wasteful;
- (c)unless an Account has been opened by the Customer;
- (d)unless the water has first passed through a Meter, except in a case where, pursuant to this Bylaw, unmetered supply of water is specifically authorized; or
- (e) in any other unauthorized manner.

(2) If the Chief Administrative Officer finds an unauthorized use of water including, without restriction, as a result of any tampering with a Meter or other Facilities, the Chief Administrative Officer may make such changes in the MD's Meters, appliances, or other Facilities or take such other corrective action as may be appropriate to ensure only the authorized use of the Facilities, and also to ensure the safety of the general public.

(3) Upon finding an unauthorized use of water, the Chief Administrative Officer may immediately disconnect the Service Connection or shut-off the water supply, without notice, and shall charge the Person all costs incurred in correcting the condition, in addition to any other rights and remedies that may be available to the MD.

(4) A Person that uses water in contravention of this section shall pay the following charges:

- (a) the applicable rate for the water used and, where necessary, based on an estimate by the Chief Administrative Officer of the amount of water used in contravention of this section;
- (b)all costs incurred by the MD in dealing with the contravention; and

(c) any other applicable fees or charges provided for in this Bylaw.

# 6. Authorizations and Approvals for Private Water Line

(1) Except where the MD has caused the installation to be performed by a private contractor, in accordance with this Bylaw, The Customer shall be responsible for obtaining all permits, certificates, licenses, inspections, reports, and other authorizations necessary for the installation and operation of the Private Water Line.

(2) The MD shall not be required to commence Water Services to a Property unless and until the Customer has complied with the requirements of all governmental authorities, permits, certificates, licenses, inspections, reports and other authorizations, all right-of-way agreements, and all of the MD's requirements applicable to the installation and operation of the Private Water Line. The MD reserves the right, but is not obligated, to verify that all necessary authorizations have been obtained by the Customer.

### 7. Temporary Water Services

The MD may provide temporary Water Services wherever practicable to a Customer for purposes of facilitating construction of a new development. The Customer will pay a rate, charge or fee for such Water Services as specified in this Bylaw. A Customer who is receiving temporary Water Services for the construction phase of a development ceases to be entitled to take temporary Water Services at the construction rate and is required to apply for permanent metered Water Services when

- (1) a MD final inspection is issued for the development; or
- (2) the development is being used for its intended purpose; whichever event occurs first.

## 8. Bulk Water

(1) The MD may, at its discretion, make water available for sale at MD bulk water stations.

(2) The MD is not obligated to supply water at its bulk water stations and the supply of water may be interrupted for any reason.

## 9. Transmission System Service Connections

(1) The flow rate for any Transmission System Service Connection shall be 4 Litres per minute. All Service Connections on Rural Property and Redevelopments on Rural Property must be connected to a Cistern, Pressure Reducing Valve (PRV), and Flow Restriction device for pressurization of the Private Water Line, except as agreed to in writing by the Chief Administration Officer.

(2) Existing Transmission System Service Connections without a separate Agreement under subsection (1) that do not meet the requirements of subsection (1) shall be considered Schedule E "Residential – Non Cistern" rate Customers.

(3) Transmission System Service Connections are for residential, domestic, and municipal use only. Any Commercial or Agriculture use of water from the MD's Rural Transmission System is unauthorized use and enforceable under Schedule F.

### PART II -WATER METERS

### **10. Provision and Ownership of Meters**

(1) All water supplied by the MD through each Service Connection shall be measured by one Meter unless the Chief Administrative Officer, in his or her sole discretion, has specified otherwise. A separate Curb Stop must be installed for each Meter.

(2) The MD shall, at the Customer's sole cost, supply one or more Meters for the purpose of measuring the volume of water delivered to a Customer by way of a Service Connection. Each Meter shall remain the sole property of the MD, notwithstanding the Customer has paid all applicable fees and charges of supply, unless the Chief Administrative Officer and the Customer have expressly agreed in writing otherwise.

(3) In the case of new construction on Property adjacent to a Water Main, a Customer's Property may only be occupied after the Meter is installed and an Account opened.

(4) If a Customer fails or refuses to permit a Meter to be installed on the Customer's Property, as required by this section, the MD may, without restricting any other remedies provided for in this Bylaw or by statute or under the common law, charge the Customer for Water Services at the rates prescribed in this Bylaw for an "Unmetered Service".

### 11. Responsibilities of Customer

(1) Each Customer shall ensure that a location on the Customer's Property for Meter installation is provided, and that access to the Meter is provided for the purpose of reading or servicing the Meter, in accordance with all applicable Water Service Guidelines.

(2) Each Customer shall provide adequate protection for the Meter supplied by the MD against freezing, heat or any internal or external damage.

(3) When a Meter is damaged due to frost, heat or any other condition or means against which the Customer neglected to provide adequate protection, the cost of removal and repair or replacement of the Meter shall be borne by the Customer.

### **12. General Meter Restrictions**

(1) Unless written authorization is provided by the Chief Administrative Officer, no Person other than an authorized agent of the MD shall install, test, remove, repair, replace, or disconnect a Meter.

(2) No Person shall break, tamper, or interfere with any Meter including, without restriction, any seal attached thereto.

(3) If a Meter is lost, damaged or destroyed, the Customer shall pay all applicable fees and charges for the Meter removal, repair and reinstallation or for replacing the Meter.

(4) No Person $\cdot$  shall obstruct or impede direct and convenient access to Meters for the purpose of inspection, removal, repair, replacement or reading.

## 13. Access to Meters

(1) The Chief Administrative Officer may, at any reasonable time, read, inspect, remove, repair, replace or test a Meter installed on Property owned or controlled by the Customer.

(2) The Chief Administrative Officer may schedule and administer regular maintenance, inspection and replacement programs for Meters.

### 14. Remote Meter Reading

(1) Without limiting the generality of section 12 of this Schedule, the Chief Administrative Officer may, at any reasonable time, and at the Customer's sole cost, replace a Meter, or require a Meter to be replaced, with a Meter capable of being read remotely.

(2) If a Customer denies the Chief Administrative Officer access to the Customer's premises or in any way hinders or obstructs the Chief Administrative Officer's installation of a Meter that can be read remotely, or refuses to replace a Meter with a Meter that can be read remotely when required by the Chief Administrative Officer, then, without limiting any other remedy available pursuant to this Bylaw, by statute or common law, the Customer may be deemed to be an "Unmetered Service" and charged accordingly for Water Services even if the Customer has a pre-existing Meter.

### 15. Meter Readings

Where 3 consecutive estimated Meter readings have been used for billing purposes due to the Meter not being read by an authorized representative of the MD as a result of the Customer failing to provide or allow the MD access to the Meter during a billing period:

- (1) a notice may be left at the Customer's address requesting the Customer to contact the Chief Administrative Officer within two (2) working days, advising of the date and time that the Chief Administrative Officer will be able to have access to the Meter for the purpose of obtaining an actual Meter reading; or
- (2) in the case where the Customer does not contact the Chief Administrative Officer within two (2) working days, the MD may disconnect the Service Connection or shut-off Utility Services, without any further notice, until such time as an actual Meter reading can be obtained.

# 16. Meter Testing

(1) At the request of a Customer, the Chief Administrative Officer shall arrange for onsite Meter verification and, if necessary, shall arrange for a Meter to be tested by a person qualified to perform such work. If, upon verification or testing or both, the Meter is found to be recording accurately, which for this purpose is defined as recording between 98.5% and 101.5% of actual consumption, then the Customer shall pay all applicable fees and charges for this service.

(2) If the Meter is found to be recording inaccurately, as defined above:

- (a) the MD shall waive the Meter Test Charge set forth in Schedule "E" of this Bylaw; and
- (b) the MD shall repair or replace, or require a Meter to be replaced, and perform any required testing. The Customer shall be responsible for, and shall pay any applicable fee or charge set forth in this Bylaw; and
- (c) subject to subsection (3), the Account based on the readings of that Meter during the period of 3 months immediately preceding the date of the test or calibration shall be corrected to reflect the error in the Meter and the Customer shall pay, or shall be refunded, as the case may be, the amount so determined, which payment or refund shall be accepted by both the MD and the Customer in full settlement of any claim that may arise out of the error in the Meter.

(3) The Chief Administrative Officer may at any time inspect or test any Meter, on its own initiative, regardless of whether the Customer has requested inspection or testing. In such case no fees or charges are payable by the Customer.

## **17.** Circumvention of Meter

(1) If under any circumstances, a Person other than an authorized agent of the MD prevents a Meter from accurately recording the total volume of water supplied, the MD may disconnect the Service Connection, shut-off Utility Services or take other appropriate actions to ensure access to accurate Meter data or both.

(2) The Chief Administrative Officer may then estimate the demand and amount of water supplied but not recorded by the Meter at the Service Connection. The Customer shall pay the cost of the estimated water consumption plus all costs related to the investigation and resolution of the matter.

# PART III - FIRE PROTECTION

# **18.** Use of Water from Fire Hydrants

(1) Unless authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer, no Person shall operate or interfere with a fire hydrant, whether owned by the MD or privately owned, except as necessary for firefighting, flushing, and maintenance purposes.

(2) A Customer requesting authorization to use water from a MD owned fire hydrant shall apply to the Chief Administrative Officer by paying all associated fees (per Schedule "E") and supplying information regarding the location of the fire hydrant to be accessed, the manner in which it will be used, and any other information that may be reasonably required by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(3) The Chief Administrative Officer will advise the Customer whether and on what terms the MD is prepared to authorize use of a MD owned fire hydrant and any conditions, including without limitation, payments by the Customer, Water Meter, valves, pipes and fittings required that must be satisfied as a condition of using a MD owned fire hydrant.

(4) The Chief Administrative Officer may, in his or her discretion, exempt a given Customer the associated fees established by subsection (2).

### **19. Interference with Fire Hydrants**

(1) No Person shall do anything to obstruct access to, or interfere with the operation of, a fire hydrant.

(2) Each Customer who owns Property on which a fire hydrant is located or Property that is adjacent to Property on which a fire hydrant is located shall maintain a clearance

of at least 3 feet around a fire hydrant and shall not permit anything to be constructed, erected, placed or planted within that minimum clearance.

### 20. Private Fire Protection Equipment

(1) In this section "Private Fire Protection Equipment" means equipment, infrastructure or facilities, not owned by the MD, which is located on a Customer's Property and is intended to be used to provide fire protection, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, private fire hydrants, fire sprinklers and outlets for fire hoses.

(2) No Customer shall connect Private Fire Protection Equipment to the Water System without first applying for, and obtaining, the written approval of the Chief Administrative Officer.

(3) A Person applying for approval under subsection (2) shall pay any applicable fee and provide the Chief Administrative Officer with all information that the Chief Administrative Officer may require.

(4) The Chief Administrative Officer may, in his or her discretion, acting reasonably, approve or reject an application under subsection (2) and may, in granting an approval, impose conditions or requirements on the Customer, which may include, without restriction, a requirement that a separate Service Connection be constructed and installed, at the Customer's sole cost, for the purpose of supplying the Private Fire Protection Equipment.

(5) The MD does not guarantee or warrant that the Water System, or any portion thereof, will be capable of connecting to and/or adequately supplying Private Fire Protection Equipment on a Customer's Property and, without limiting the authority of the Chief Administrative Officer under subsection (4), an application under subsection (2) may be rejected if the Chief Administrative Officer determines that the Water System, or portion thereof, is not capable of connecting to or adequately supplying the proposed Private Fire Protection Equipment.

(6) A separate Service Connection for fire protection that is installed pursuant to subsection (4) shall only be utilized to supply water for fire protection purposes.

(7) Where a separate Service Connection for fire protection is required pursuant to subsection (4), the Chief Administrative Officer may require that a separate Meter be installed on that Service Connection at the sole expense of the Customer.

(8) A Customer that installs Private Fire Protection Equipment is responsible for complying with any applicable laws and regulations that relate to the installation, operation and maintenance of that Fire Protection Equipment.

(9) A Customer shall ensure that all Private Fire Protection Equipment located on the Customer's Property maintains an adequate volume, pressure and flow rate of water required for firefighting purposes.

(10) The Chief Administrative Officer may, at any reasonable time, inspect and test Private Fire Protection Equipment.

#### PART IV - CROSS CONNECTIONS

#### 21. Cross Connections

(1) No Person shall install, or allow to exist, any Cross Connection that could cause or allow drinking water in any part of the Water System to become contaminated or polluted in any way.

(2) Where the Chief Administrative Officer determines that there exists a Cross Connection prohibited by this section, the Chief Administrative Officer shall give notice to the Customer to correct the Cross Connection at the expense of the Customer within the time specified in the notice and may, in addition to any other legal remedy, immediately disconnect the Service Connection or shut-off the water supply for such time as the prohibited Cross Connection continues.

#### 22. Cross Connection Control Devices

(1) The Chief Administrative Officer may, in his or her discretion, require any Customer to install, at the Customer's expense, one or more Cross Connection Control Devices on Private Water Lines servicing the Customer's Property, in locations approved by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(2) A Customer is responsible, at the Customer's expense, for ensuring that Cross Connection Control Devices located on the Customer's Property are installed, and regularly inspected, repaired and maintained, by a Person certified and qualified to install, inspect, repair and maintain Cross Connection Control Devices.

## **PART V - OTHER FACILITIES**

### 23. Operation of Curb Stops

(1) No Person, other than an authorized representative of the MD, shall operate a Curb Stop on any Property.

(2) No Person shall interfere with, damage or obstruct access to any Curb Stop.

### 24. Boilers

Where a boiler is supplied with water from the Water System, the Customer shall ensure that a safety valve or other appropriate device is installed to prevent danger from collapse or explosion if water supply to the Customer is disconnected or otherwise discontinued.

### 25. Water Softeners Prohibited

No Person shall cause or permit an Ion Exchange Water Softener to be installed along a Private Water Line or within any premises receiving Water Services.

#### SCHEDULE "C"

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF WASTEWATER SERVICES

#### 1. Unauthorized Use of Wastewater System

(1) No Person shall use the Wastewater System, or allow the Wastewater System to be used:

(a) in a manner that will impede the Wastewater System's use by other Customers;

(b)unless an Account has been opened by the Customer; or

(c) in any other unauthorized manner.

(2) If the Chief Administrative Officer finds an unauthorized use of the Wastewater System including without restriction any tampering with any of the Facilities, the Chief Administrative Officer may make such changes in its Facilities or take such other corrective action as may be appropriate to ensure only the authorized use of the Facilities, and also to ensure the safety of the general public.

(3) Upon finding an unauthorized use of the Wastewater System, the Chief Administrative Officer may immediately disconnect the Service Connection or shutoff Wastewater Services, without notice, and shall charge the Person all costs incurred in correcting the condition, in addition to any other rights and remedies that may be available to the MD.

(4) A Person that uses the Wastewater System in contravention of this section shall pay the following charges:

(a) the applicable rate for the Wastewater Services used based on an estimate by the Chief Administrative Officer of the value the contravention of this section;

(b)all costs incurred by the MD in dealing with the contravention; and

(c) any other applicable fees or charges provided for in this Bylaw.

#### 2. Requirement to Connect to Wastewater System

(1) Subject to subsection (3), all developed Properties adjacent to a Wastewater Main must be connected to the Wastewater System on or before on or before a date set by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(2) Subject to subsection (3), all new development, including redevelopment, on Properties adjacent to a Wastewater Main must connect to the Wastewater System prior to occupancy.

(3) The Chief Administrative Officer may, in his or her discretion, exempt a given developed Property, new development or redevelopment from the connection requirement established by subsection (1) or (2), as applicable.

(4) Where an exemption has been granted under subsection (3), the Chief Administrative Officer may, at any time after the granting of the exemption, require that the developed Property, new development or redevelopment in question be connected to the Wastewater System within an alternate timeframe prescribed by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(5) If an Owner fails to take all required steps to connect the Owner's Property to the Wastewater System when required, by this section, to do so, the MD may enter onto the Property in question and, at the Owner's sole expense, take any and all steps that the MD considers necessary to connect that Property to the Wastewater System, including, without restriction, constructing a Private Drainage Line and related facilities on the Property.

(6) The Owner of a Property in respect of which the Chief Administrative Officer has provided an exemption under subsection (2) shall install, at the Owner's expense, a Private Wastewater Disposal System that meets the approval of the Chief Administrative Officer.

(7) An Owner who installs a Private Wastewater Disposal System pursuant to subsection (6) shall be responsible for obtaining, and complying with, all permits, certificates, licenses, inspections, reports, and other authorizations necessary for the installation and operation of the Private Wastewater Disposal System, and for complying with all applicable laws and regulations.

# 3. Alternate Wastewater System

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), once a Property is connected to the Wastewater System:
  - (a) no Person shall, unless authorized in writing by the Chief Administrative Officer, continue to use any Private Wastewater Disposal System located on that Property for the collection or disposal of Wastewater; and
  - (b)any existing Private Wastewater Disposal System that is located on the Property shall be decommissioned, at the Owner's expense, in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

(2) The Chief Administrative Officer may allow a Person to maintain a Private Wastewater Disposal System subject to such terms and conditions as the Chief Administrative Officer deems necessary, which may include, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, restrictions on the period of time for which the Private Wastewater Disposal System may be used and the purposes for which it may be used.

(3) No Person who has been granted permission by the Chief Administrative Officer to maintain a Private Wastewater Disposal System shall allow that alternate facility to be connected, directly or indirectly, to the Wastewater System.

## 4. Authorizations and Approvals for Private Wastewater Line

(1) Except where the MD has caused the installation to be performed by a private contractor, in accordance with this Bylaw, the Customer shall be responsible for obtaining all permits, certificates, licenses, inspections, reports, and other authorizations necessary for the installation and operation of the Private Wastewater Line.

(2) The MD shall not be required to commence Wastewater Services to a Property unless and until the Customer has complied with the requirements of all governmental authorities, permits, certificates, licenses, inspections, reports and other authorizations, all right-of-way agreements, and all of the MD's requirements applicable to the installation and operation of the Private Wastewater Line. The MD reserves the right, but is not obligated, to verify that all necessary authorizations have been obtained by the Customer.

### 5. Discharge into Wastewater System

(1) Except as agreed to in writing by the Chief Administrative Officer, no Person shall discharge or permit to be discharged into the Wastewater System any matter other than domestic Wastewater resulting from normal human living processes.

(2) For greater certainty, and without in any way restricting subsection (1), no Person shall discharge or permit to be discharged into the Wastewater System:

- (a) any matter containing Hazardous Waste;
- (b) any substance that may cause the MD to be in violation of any regulatory or operating licence, approval or permit for the Wastewater System;
- (c) any flammable liquid or explosive matter which, by itself or in combination with any other substance, is capable of causing or contributing to an explosion or supporting combustion, including, without restriction, hydrocarbon substances such as gasoline and diesel fuel;
- (d) any matter which, by itself or in combination with any other substance, is capable of obstructing the flow of or interfering with the operation or performance of the Wastewater System including, without restriction, grease

and solid substances such as sand, grit, mud, plastics, rags, sanitary napkins and wet wipes;

- (e) any matter with corrosive properties which, by itself or in combination with any other substance, may cause damage to the Wastewater System;
- (f) any substance having a pH of less than 5.5 or greater than 1 O;
- (g) pharmaceuticals;
- (h) corrosive or toxic substances, including, without restriction, pesticides and herbicides;
- (i) radioactive materials;
- (j) condensing water,
- (k) the contents of any privy vault, manure pit or cesspool;
- (l) the contents of a sump pump;
- (m) storm water or surface water; or
- (n) any waste or by-product that has been generated by an Ion Exchange Water Softener

#### 6. Commercial or Industrial Wastewater

(1) No Wastewater or other matter resulting from any commercial, trade, industrial or manufacturing process shall be discharged or permitted to be discharged into the Wastewater System unless prior approval has been granted by the Chief Administrative Officer and only then after any required pre-treatment of the Wastewater or other matter, as prescribed by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(2) All necessary pre-treatment equipment or works shall be installed by the Customer, at the Customer's sole expense, prior to the construction of the Service Connection and thereafter shall be continuously maintained and operated by the Customer.

#### 7. Overstrength Surcharge

- (1) In this section:
  - (a) "Additional Overstrength Concentration Limit" means the concentration limit, in mg/L, of a Substance set out in Schedule "G" of this Bylaw;
  - (b)"Additional Overstrength Surcharge Mass" means the mass, in kg, of a Substance, to which an Additional Overstrength Surcharge is applied, which mass is determined by applying the following formula:
    - Additional Overstrength Surcharge Mass = ((Measured Substance Concentration – Additional Overstrength Concentration Limit) x Water Volume) \* 1/1,000,000 (to convert mg to kg);
  - (c) "Substance" means a substance identified in Schedule "G" of this Bylaw;
  - (d)"Overstrength Concentration Limit" means the concentration limit, in mg/L, of a Substance set out Schedule "G" of this Bylaw;
  - (e) "Overstrength Surcharge Mass" means the mass, in kg, of a Substance, to which an Overstrength Surcharge is applied, which mass is determined by applying the following formula:
    - Overstrength Surcharge Mass = ((Measured Substance Concentration Overstrength Concentration Limit) x Water Volume) x 1/1,000,000 (to convert mg to kg)
  - (f) **"Measured Substance Concentration"** means the concentration, in mg/L, of a Substance found in Wastewater discharged, by the Customer, into the Wastewater System; and

### (g)**"Water Volume"** means:

- (i) In the case of a planned high discharge event, where the Customer has communicated their intention, to the MD, to discharge, into the Wastewater System, Wastewater containing one or more Substances with Measured Substance Concentrations that exceed the applicable Overstrength Concentration Limit, and the MD has confirmed the Customer's ability to do so during a specific date and time, the actual amount of Wastewater discharged by the Customer, measured in a manner acceptable to the MD; and
- (ii) In all other situations:
  - i. if the Property in question receives metered water service from the MD, the volume of treated water delivered to, or consumed by, the Customer during the relevant period; and
  - ii. if the Property in question does not receive metered water service from the MD, the volume of Wastewater discharged by the Customer into the Wastewater System during the relevant period;

as determined by the MD.

(2) The MD may impose Overstrength Surcharges upon Customers who discharge, into the Wastewater System, Wastewater containing one or more Substances with Measured Substance Concentrations that exceed the applicable Overstrength Concentration Limit.

(3) The MD may impose Additional Overstrength Surcharges upon Customers who discharge, into the Wastewater System, Wastewater containing one or more Substances with Measured Substance Concentrations that exceed the applicable Additional Overstrength Concentration Limit, and, for greater certainty, such Additional Overstrength Surcharges shall be payable in addition to, not in lieu of, the applicable Overstrength Surcharge.

(4) The Overstrength Surcharges payable per unit of Overstrength Surcharge Mass and the Additional Overstrength Surcharges payable per unit of Additional Overstrength Surcharge Mass are set out within Schedule "E".

(5) Overstrength Surcharges and Additional Overstrength Surcharges are payable in addition to any other rates, fees and charges payable for, or in connection with, Wastewater Services.

(6) Testing to identify Substances present, and Measured Substance Concentrations, for the purpose of calculating Overstrength Surcharges and Additional Overstrength Surcharges, shall be conducted by the MD, or by the Customer to the satisfaction of the MD that a representative sample is obtained, using automated sampling devices or in accordance with the following manual sampling protocol:

- (a) samples from the Wastewater produced at a location will be collected each day for a minimum of two days or for the duration of a planned high discharge event, whichever is shorter;
- (b) a minimum of four samples of equal volume shall be taken each day or during a planned high discharge event. Such samples are to be taken at least one hour apart or, if a planned high discharge event is shorter than four hours, the time between the samples shall be reduced to ensure four samples are taken during the high discharge event;
- (c) the analysis shall be conducted on a composite sample made of the samples noted in subsections (a) and (b); and
- (d) the respective results of these tests for the times when samples are taken, shall be averaged to determine the characteristics and concentration of the Wastewater being discharged into the Wastewater System.

# 8. No Dilution

No Person shall dilute, or permit to be diluted, any Wastewater in order to enable its discharge in compliance with these Terms and Conditions.

## 9. Protection of Wastewater System

(1) No Person shall remove, damage, destroy, alter or tamper with any Facilities forming part of the Wastewater System, except as authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer.

(2) No Person shall interfere with the free discharge of any Wastewater Main or part thereof, or do any act or thing that may impede or obstruct the flow to, or clog up, the Wastewater System.

(3) No Person shall connect any storm drain, weeping tile or sump pump to any portion of the Wastewater System.

(4) In case of a blockage, either wholly in in part, of the Wastewater System by reason of negligence or the failure or omission to strictly comply with the provisions of this Bylaw, the Customer concerned or Person responsible shall be liable for all clogs and the cleaning of such blockages and for any other amount for which the MD may be held liable for due to such blockages.

## 10. Hauled Wastewater

(1) No Person shall discharge or permit the discharge of hauled Wastewater except at a hauled Wastewater discharge location approved by the Chief Administrative Officer and only then in accordance with any terms and conditions imposed by the Chief Administrative Officer, including payment of applicable fees and charges.

(2) If a hauled Wastewater discharge location has been identified, by the MD, as a Recreational Vehicle discharge or dump location, that location shall be used solely for the purpose of discharging Wastewater from Recreational Vehicles, and no Person shall discharge or permit the discharge, at that location, of Wastewater from any vehicle, container, structure or thing other than a Recreational Vehicle.

### 11. Food-Related Grease Interceptors

(1) Every Customer who is the Owner or operator of a restaurant or other commercial, institutional, Industrial, commercial or Institutional premises where food is cooked, processed or prepared, for which the premises is connected directly or indirectly to the Wastewater System, shall take all necessary measures to ensure that Oil and Grease are prevented from entering the Wastewater System in excess of the provisions of this Bylaw.

(2) The Customer referred to in subsection (1) shall install, operate, and properly maintain, at the Customer's expense, an Oil and Grease interceptor in any piping system at its premises that connects directly or indirectly to the Wastewater System. The Oil and Grease interceptors shall be installed in compliance with the most current requirements of the applicable Building Code and the National Plumbing Code of Canada.

### 12. Vehicle and Equipment Service Oil and Grease Interceptors

(1) Every Customer who is the Owner or operator of a vehicle or equipment service station, repair shop or garage or of a commercial, industrial or institutional premises or any other establishment where motor vehicles are repaired, lubricated or maintained and where the discharge is directly or indirectly connected to the Wastewater System shall install an Oil and Grease interceptor designed to prevent motor oil and lubricating grease from passing into the Wastewater System in excess of the limits in this Bylaw.

(2) The Customer referred to in subsection (1) shall install, operate, and properly maintain an Oil and Grease interceptor in any piping system at its premises that connects directly or indirectly to the Wastewater System. The Oil and Grease interceptors shall be installed in compliance with the most current requirements of the applicable Building Code and be maintained as recommended by the Canadian Fuels Association (formerly the Canadian Petroleum Products Institute).

# **13. Sediment Interceptors**

Bylaw No. 1344-22

(1) Every Customer who is the Owner or operator of premises from which sediment may directly or indirectly enter the Wastewater System, including but not limited to premises using a ramp drain or area drain and vehicle wash establishments, shall take all necessary measures to ensure that such sediment is prevented from entering the Wastewater System in excess of the limits in this Bylaw.

# 14. Spills

(1) Any Person who discharges or permits the discharge of any Wastewater or other matter contrary to this Bylaw shall, immediately after becoming aware of the discharge, notify:

(a) the Chief Administrative Officer and provide the following information:

- (i) name of the Person causing or permitting the discharge;
- (ii) location of the release;
- (iii) name and contact · information of the Person reporting the discharge;
- (iv) date and time of the discharge;
- (v) type of material discharged and any known associated hazards;
- (vi) volume of the material discharged; and

(vii) corrective action being taken, or anticipated to be taken, to control the discharge;

- (b)the Owner of the Property, where the Person reporting the discharge is not the Owner and knows, or is readily able to ascertain the identity of the Owner; and
- (c) any other Person whom the Person reporting knows or ought to know may be directly affected by the discharge.

(2) The Person who discharged or permitted the discharge pursuant to subsection (1) shall, as soon as the Person becomes aware or ought to have become aware of the discharge, take all reasonable measures to:

- (a) confine, remedy and repair the effects of the discharge; and
- (b)remove or otherwise dispose of the matter in a lawful manner so as to minimize all adverse effects.

#### **SCHEDULE "D"**

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SOLID WASTE SERVICES

#### **1. Collection Services**

(1) The Chief Administrative Officer is authorized to establish the Collection Schedule and establish methods of Waste collection and disposal.

(2) Regular Collection shall occur on a weekly basis in the Collection Area. Regular Collection for properties located outside the Collection Area shall be on an as needed basis, but shall not exceed four collections per month. Additional collections may be scheduled if and when required, at the discretion of Chief Administrative Officer. Customers shall pay the applicable fee or charge set forth in Schedule "E" of this Bylaw.

(3) Where feasible and practical for the MD, the Chief Administrative Officer may authorize Solid Waste Services for a Property located outside the Collection Area, subject to the Owner of that Property complying with all relevant portions of this Bylaw.

(4) The Owner or Occupant of any Property not described in subsection (1) or (2) shall, either personally or by employees, contractors or agents, and in compliance with all applicable federal, provincial and municipal laws, promptly remove and dispose of all Waste generated on the Property at an approved waste transfer station or landfill, at the Owner or Occupant's sole expense.

#### 2. Prohibited Waste

(1) No Person shall set out, or permit to be set out, any Waste for collection other than Household Waste in accordance with this Bylaw including, without limiting the foregoing:

(a) Household Waste generated by any Property outside of the Collection Area;

(b)animal carcasses;

(c)Bulk Waste;

(d)Commercial Waste;

(e)Construction Waste;

(f) Hazardous Waste;

(g)hot ashes; or

(h)Liquid Waste.

#### **3.** Waste Collection Fees

(1) Every Owner of Property located within the Collection Area shall pay to the MD the Waste Collection Fee specified in Schedule "E" of this Bylaw.

(2) The Waste Collection Fee referred to in subsection (1) shall apply regardless of whether Waste is set out at the Property, the Property generates Waste or where all or a portion of a Residential Premises or Non-Residential Premises located on the Property is vacant.

(3) Every Owner of Property located outside of the Collection Area that has been authorized to receive Solid Waste Services in accordance with this Bylaw shall pay to the MD the Waste Collection Fee specified in Schedule "E" of this Bylaw.

(4) The Waste Collection Fee referred to in subsection (3) shall only apply while the Property receives Solid Waste Services.

#### 4. Preparing Waste for Collection

- (1) No Person shall set out, or permit to be set out, Waste for collection without ensuring that the Waste has been prepared for collection in accordance with the following:
  - (a) all Waste must be secured within a Waste Receptacle or a Garbage Bag;
  - (b)despite subsection (a), yard materials such as clippings from shrubs and trees may be compacted and securely tied in bundles not exceeding 1.2m in length and 25kg in weight, and placed beside the Waste Receptacle;
  - (c)wet Waste must be thoroughly drained, double-bagged and tied securely;
  - (d)light, dusty materials such as cooled ashes, sawdust, powders, vacuum cleaner bags, furnace filters and absorbents must be placed in a sealed disposable container;
  - (e) objectionable materials including animal feces and diapers must be doublebagged and tied securely; and
  - (f) sharp or dangerous items, including broken glass, razor blades, sheet metal scarps and items with exposed screws or nails must be contained within protective packaging (sturdy, sealed cardboard box or rigid disposable plastic container);

### 5. Waste Receptacles

(1) The contents of a Waste Receptacle must not be packed or jammed into the Waste Receptacle to the extent that the contents will not fall freely from the Waste Receptacle during Collection activities.

(2) The contents of a Waste Receptacle must not prevent the closure of the lid.

(3) Waste Receptacle lids must not be chained or tied to the Waste Receptacle.

(4) Waste Receptacles must not be chained or tied to fences or Waste Container enclosures.

(5) Animal Resistant Receptacles are required when deemed necessary.

(6) Animal Resistant Receptacles need to be latched and regularly cleaned to function as intended.

### 6. Curbside Collection

(1) All Waste Collection shall be from a front yard, curbside location unless otherwise authorized by the Chief Administrative Officer.

- (2) A Person setting out Waste for Collection shall ensure that:
  - (a)all Waste Receptacles and Garbage Bags are placed near the front property line; and
  - (b)convenient and unobstructed access to Waste Receptacles and Garbage Bags is maintained at all times.

(3) No Person shall set out Waste for collection in a location that is unsafe, obstructed, poorly maintained, uneven or that otherwise prevents a Waste Collector from collecting Waste in a safe and efficient manner.

### 7. Setting Out Waste for Collection

- (1) Waste must be set out for collection by 8:00 a.m. on the morning of the scheduled collection day.
- (2) No Person shall set out Waste for collection before 5:00 p.m. on the day prior to the scheduled collection day.

(3) The Property Owner shall be responsible any litter created as a result of interference with the bag by any person or thing.

### 8. Waste Collection

(1) Waste collection from any location may occur at any time during the collection day (7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.) and actual collection may vary on a weekly or seasonal basis.

(2) Collection shall occur on a weekly basis. Additional collections may be scheduled if and when required, at the discretion of Chief Administrative Officer.

(3) If a civic holiday occurs on the scheduled collection day, collection will be made within two (2) days of the holiday.

(4) In the event of severe weather or unusually large Waste volumes, the Chief Administrative Officer may alter the Collection Schedule for part or all of the Collection Area to include the day before and the day after the regularly scheduled collection day.

## 9. Ownership of Waste

(1) All Waste set out for collection remains the property of the Person placing the Waste for collection until accepted by the MD at the time of collection.

### 10. Withholding Collection Services

(1) Waste Collectors are authorized to withhold collection of improperly prepared Waste, prohibited Waste, excessive quantities of Waste, or Waste located at unsafe or non-compliant locations.

## 11. Damage to Waste Receptacles

(1) The MD is not responsible for damage to Waste Receptacles resulting from normal, repetitive activity or for lost Waste Receptacles, including lids.

### 12. Interference with Waste Receptacles

(1) No Person other than an authorized Waste Collector or the Person placing Waste in a Waste Receptacle or Garbage Bag shall interfere with, disturb, add to or remove the contents of a Waste Receptacle or Garbage Bag set out for collection.

### **13. Entering Private Property**

(1) Waste Collectors shall not be required to enter onto private Property to collect Waste unless such entry is necessary or desirable, in the discretion of the Chief Administrative Officer.

(2) Waste Collectors are authorized to enter the front yard of any private Property at all reasonable times for the purpose of carrying out their duties.

(3) The MD will not be responsible for any damage to roads or infrastructure located on private Property resulting from legitimate operation of Waste collection vehicles during Waste collection activity on that private Property.

#### SCHEDULE "E"

#### **RATES, FEES AND CHARGES**

#### 1. Water and Wastewater Rates

The rates for Water Services and Wastewater Services are as follows:

#### (1) <u>Bi-Monthly Rates – Hamlets and Distribution System Connections</u>

	Water Base	Consumption	Bulk Water	Sewer
	(flat rate)	(/cubic metre)	(/cubic metre)	(flat rate)
Residential	\$20.00	\$1.15/m <sup>3</sup>	-	\$12.00
Commercial	\$50.00	\$1.50/m <sup>3</sup>	\$2.20/m <sup>3</sup>	\$50.00

#### (2) **Bi-Monthly Rates - Rural Transmission System Connections**

	Water Base	Consumption	Bulk Water	Sewer
	(flat rate)	(/cubic metre)	(/cubic metre)	(flat rate)
Residential-Cistern/PRV	\$20.00	\$1.15/m <sup>3</sup>	-	-
Residential – Non Cistern	\$25.00	\$1.32/m <sup>3</sup>	-	-

# (3) **Bulk Water Filling**

	Water Base (flat rate)	Consumption (/cubic metre)
Bulk Fill Stations	-	\$2.64/m <sup>3</sup>
Fire Hydrants	\$5.00	$2.64/m^{3}$

#### (4) Monthly Water and Waste Water Service Rates Through Agreements

#### Province of Alberta (Parks) Agreement - Castle River and Syncline

200.00/line base rate for capital repair and replacement, @ 1.50/m<sup>3</sup> for consumption. The Province handles waste water and solid waste outside of this Bylaw. Repair and replacement of the distribution system within the Parks Zone will be as per Agreement with the Crown.

### Village of Cowley Agreement

\$300.00 base rate for capital repair and replacement, (a)  $1.15/m^3$  for consumption. Repair and replacement of the distribution system within the Village of Cowley will be as per the Agreement.

#### **Castle Mountain Resort Agreement**

\$2500.00 base rate for capital repair and replacement, @  $1.50/m^3$  for consumption. CMR has its own system for waste water and another agreement for Solid Waste. Repair and replacement of the distribution system within the Resort will be the sole responsibility of CMR Inc.

#### **Temporary Unmetered Water**

\$125.00 / month for residential water
\$200.00 / month for commercial - for under 2" meter size / line
\$300.00 / month for commercial - for anything over 2" meter size / line

# 2. New Service Connection Fees

The amounts payable for connecting the Private Water Line or Private Drainage Line, or both, on a Customer's Property to the MD's Water Main and/or Wastewater Main, as applicable, to complete a new Service Connection so that Water Services and/or Wastewater Services to the Customer's Property may be commenced are as follows:

- (1) Water Services Only: Actual cost incurred by the MD in relation to the connection, plus 5%;
- Wastewater Services Only: Actual cost incurred by the MD in relation to the connection, plus 5%;

(3) Combined Water/Wastewater Services: Actual cost incurred by the MD in relation to the connection, plus 5%;

and such amounts shall be paid in accordance with the Utility Services Guidelines.

# **3. Additional Service Charges**

The fees and charges payable for additional Water and Wastewater Services are as follows:

- (1)Water Turn-On/Turn-Off Charge (at Customer request): \$75.00 per visit
- (2)Supply of Meter: Actual cost incurred by the MD in obtaining the Meter +5%
- (3)Meter Installation/Removal Charge: Actual cost incurred by the MD + 5%
- (4)Meter Test Charge: \$200.00
- (5)Meter Repairs or Other Costs Associated with Meters: Actual cost incurred by the MD + 5%

# 4. Overstrength Surcharges

(1) The following Over Strength Surcharges and Additional Over Strength Surcharges are hereby established:

Substance	Over Strength Surcharge (per kg of Over Strength Surcharge Mass)	Additional Over Strength Surcharge (per kg of Additional Over Strength Surcharge Mass)
Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD)	\$0.15	\$0.15
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)	\$0.15	\$0.15
Oil and Grease (O&G) – Animal and Vegetable + Mineral and synthetic/hydrocarbon	\$0.15	\$0.15
Total Suspended Solids (TSS)	\$0.10	\$0.10
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen(TKN)	\$1.00	\$1.00
Total Phosphorus (TP)	\$6.25	\$6.25

(2) For greater certainty, when the Measured Substance Concentration exceeds the corresponding Additional Over Strength Concentration Limit, an Additional Over Strength Surcharge will be payable in addition to, not in lieu of, the applicable Over Strength Surcharge.

# 5. Solid Waste Services

The rates for Solid Waste Services are as follows:

# **Bi-Monthly Rates – Collection Area**

	Bi-Monthly	Per Extra Trip
Residential	\$20.00	N/A
Commercial	\$40.00	\$40.00

# 6. Miscellaneous Service Fees and Charges

(1) A late payment charge of 1.5% per month, not compounded, will be applied to all charges on a Customer's Account, if the Customer's payment is not received by the MD within 30 days from the date of issuance of the bill in respect of the charges.

(2) A dishonoured cheque charge of \$25.00 will be applied for each cheque returned for insufficient funds.

# SCHEDULE "F"

# **SPECIFIED PENALTIES**

	Section	1 <sup>st</sup> offence	2 <sup>nd</sup> offence*
Obstruct an Authorized representative	s. 16	\$200.00	\$300.00
Backfill before Service Connection Inspection	Sch. A s. 6(3)(c)	\$250.00	\$500.00
Contravention of Repair and Maintenance Requirements	Sch. A s. 7	\$200.00	\$300.00
Interfere with Another Customer's Service Connection /Utility Services	Sch. A s. 10(2)	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Obstruct access to Facilities	Sch. A s. 13(1)	\$100.00	\$250.00
Failure to manage vegetation on Property	Sch. A s. 13(2)	\$100.00	\$200.00
Install structure that interferes with proper and safe operation of Facilities	Sch. A. s. 13(3)	\$200.00	\$500.00
Interfere with or alter Facilities	Sch. A s. 14	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Extend Customer owned infrastructure beyond Property	Sch. A s. 17	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Supply false or Inaccurate information	Sch. A s. 26	\$250.00	\$500.00
Fail to comply with Water Conservation and Demand Management Measures	Sch. B s. 1(3)	\$100.00	\$250.00
Failure to connect to Water System by set Date	Sch. B s. 2(1)	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Failure to connect to Water System prior to occupancy	Sch. B s. 2(2)	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Unauthorized use of Alternate Water System	Sch. B s. 3	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Unauthorized Resale or Supply Of Water	Sch. B s. 4	\$250.00	\$500.00
Unauthorized use of water	Sch. B s. 5(1)	\$250.00	\$500.00
Contravention of Customer Meter installation rules and Requirements	Sch. B s. 11(3)	\$200.00	\$300.00
Contravention of General Meter Restrictions	Sch. B s. 12	\$200.00	\$300.00
Unauthorized operation of a fire hydrant	Sch. B s. 18	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Obstruct access to Bylaw No. 1344-22	Sch. B	\$250.00	\$500.00 Page 36 of 38

or operation of a fire hydrant	s. 19		
Unauthorized Cross Connection	Sch. B s. 21	\$250.00	\$500.00
Customer fails to install Required Cross Connection Control Device	Sch. B s. 22(1)	\$250.00	\$500.00
Unauthorized Operation of Curb Stop	Sch. B s. 23	\$200.00	\$500.00
Unauthorized Use of Water Softener	Sch. B s. 25	\$250.00	\$1,000.00
Impede Wastewater Use of other Customers	Sch. C s. 1(1)(a)	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Use Wastewater System without an Account	Sch. C s. 1(1)(b)	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Use Wastewater System in unauthorized Manner	Sch. C s. 1(1)(c)	\$250.00	\$500.00
Failure to connect to Wastewater System by set Date	Sch. C s. 2(1)	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Failure to connect to Wastewater System prior to occupancy	Sch. C s. 2(2)	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Unauthorized use of Alternate Wastewater System	Sch. C s. 3	\$500.00	\$1,000.00
Unauthorized Hauled Wastewater	Sch. C s. 10	\$500.00	\$1,000.00

\* Second or subsequent offences.

Council and their Chief Administrative Officer reserve the right to adjust the fines, up to a maximum of \$10,000.00 based upon the seriousness of any given offence.

# SCHEDULE "G"

# WASTEWATER OVERSTRENGTH LIMITS

Substance	Overstrength Surcharge Concentration Limits, (mg/L)	Additional Overstrength Concentration Limits, (mg/L)
Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD)	300	3000
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)	600	6000
Oil and Grease , Total (O&G) – Animal and Vegetable + Mineral and Synthetic/Petroleum Hydrocarbons	100	400
Total Suspended Solids (TSS)	300	3000
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)	50	200
Total Phosphorus (TP)	10	75

Note: Concentrations become surchargeable with a second tier surcharge when reaching Additional Overstrength concentration Limits.

### Beaver Mines Community Association P.O. Box 1896 Pincher Creek, AB, T0K 1W0

M.D. of Pincher Creek No. 9 P.O. Box 279 Pincher Creek, Alberta T0K 1W0

January 4, 2023

Subject: Proposed Utility Bylaw 1344-22 - Beaver Mines Community Association (BMCA) Comments

To: MD Council

Thank you for the opportunity to provide our comments on the proposed Utility Bylaw 1344-22. We note that some of these would also apply to the existing Bylaw1320-20, while some relate to changes made since that Bylaw was approved in 2020 or to information shared at the MD's December 1 public meeting. Our primary concerns follow:

- 1. Mandatory connection to water and sewer (Page 18. Schedule "B", Section 2 and Page 25. Schedule "C" Section 2). This is a change from what we have been told from the beginning of the project, through the many years of consultation with BMCA and in the current bylaw updated only 2 years ago. Why the change at this late date? While there are arguments to be made on both sides, we can all agree that either way this decision should have been made at the outset (or at least before construction started) so people could plan accordingly, rather than having it sprung on the once construction is almost done. The proposed Bylaw allows the CAO to exempt people from this requirement, at least temporarily. Is the current CAO willing to do that, and if so, under what conditions?
- 2. Existing wells would need to be decommissioned before new connections are allowed (Page 18. Schedule "B" Section 3). We were previously told that people could continue to use their wells for purposes such as outdoor watering as long as there is no cross-connection to the public system. Why the change at this late date? It seems that the least the MD could do, would be to allow those with functioning wells to take advantage of their existing investment, especially for those that are only reluctantly connecting. Wells will not be connected to or in any way "touch" the new system but could prove useful in other ways e.g. fire, drought. We would like the MD to advocate on our behalf as a community with Alberta Environmental Protection to allow people to continue to use their wells, rather than expect each one of us to connect with Alberta Environmental Protection (AEP) one on one to try to get an exemption or undergo an arduous and expensive relicensing process. We are not clear whether this is a CAO or an AEP decision.
- 3. The current Bylaw includes an **option to pay the connection costs on private property over 20 years. It appears the MD no longer plans to coordinate these connections, so this provision has been removed from the proposed bylaw, meaning we are all responsible for our own connections and have to pay up-front (Page 11. Part II, Section 6).** Again, this is not what we were previously told. This could be a hardship for many and will result in delays in people connecting to the system. Property owners again should have been made aware PRIOR to shovels hitting the ground that there would be no assistance with hook up costs from the M. D. or ability to pay these over time. In fact we are aware of at least two residents who bought houses in the last couple of years who, as part of their due diligence process, were explicitly assured by the MD that a long-term payment plan was an option, and that this factored into their decision to buy their homes. This puts the MD in an awkward legal position. Has the M D investigated if other options, including government grants or other incentives, are available to help property owners with hook up costs? This may not be as much of an issue if connection is not mandatory.

We also have a few additional concerns:

Page 6. Part II. Section 5 (4). As discussed at the Dec 1 public meeting, if there's a rush for people to connect to the system, 90 days may not be long enough for everyone to connect in order to get a free water meter.

### Beaver Mines Community Association P.O. Box 1896 Pincher Creek, AB, T0K 1W0

Page 7. Part II. Section 8. This Bylaw gives considerable authority to the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) in this section and throughout. This could a concern going forward as CAO's change. What is the appeal process if we object to a CAO decision?

Page 10/14. Schedule "A" Part I. Section 2 & 20. It concerns us that the MD does not guarantee a continuous supply of water or wastewater services and also that there will be no reduction in charges for Utility Services because of any interruptions, even if they are significant, especially if connection to the system is mandatory and we can't keep our wells.

Page 11. Schedule "A" Part I. Section 5. We are concerned about the reference to Engineering Design Standards and Utility Services Guidelines that don't yet exist and what the costs of these might be, as well as any other requirements the CAO might decide are necessary (applications, permits, inspections, cross-connection control devices etc.). Will there be public input into those guidelines?

Page 11/12. Schedule "A" Part I. Section 6 (1) and 7 and Page 34 Schedule "E" Section 2. These sections state that the Customer is responsible for costs associated with installation, maintenance, repair or replacement of the Water Service Line and Wastewater Service Line on the MD property between the main line and private property. We trust this is an error. If not, please explain how this is reasonable.

Page 11. Schedule "A" Part I, Section 6(2). We do not understand the reference to December 31, 2022. Is the MD paying for some peoples' connection costs (i.e. those that jumped the gun and did them this year) and not others? If so, that doesn't seem fair.

Page 22. Part III. Section 19 (2). This Bylaw states that it is the Customer's responsibility to keep a 3 ft. wide clearance around any fire hydrant on their property or the adjacent (MD) property. We feel this should be the MD's responsibility.

Page 31. Schedule "D" Section 3. As per the current bylaw, the MD is proposing that garbage rates be mandatory for all properties, including undeveloped properties and vacant land/homes (Schedule "D" section 2). We don't feel it fair to have to pay for garbage pickup if we don't use the service, which could be true of approximately half of the properties in Beaver Mines as we have a lot of part-timers living here. After the current bylaw was approved (and garbage fees imposed for the first time), we could return our bins to the landfill and not be charged. There was no charge for undeveloped properties. Will that still be the case?

Page 33. Schedule "D" Section 11. It does not seem reasonable to us that Customers would have to pay to repair or replace the MD's Waste Receptacles resulting from normal, repetitive activity or loss. If the MD will be charging us to replace receptacles, there should be a charge noted in Schedule "E"

The Beaver Mines Community Association appreciates the efforts made by MD Council, MD staff and its contractors to bring public water and sewer to Beaver Mines and we look forward to successful completion of the project in 2023. The proposed Utilities Bylaw 1344-22, as written, however, includes significant changes to previous commitments and communications to BMCA and the hamlet's ratepayers and other elements that concern us. We feel it has been written to provide exceptional protection to the M.D. and passes on considerable cost and responsibility on each individual property owner, even for things beyond their control. We respectfully ask that the MD consider these concerns before approving this Bylaw.

Regards,

Rick Czarny

President, Beaver Mines Community Association

Good afternoon and Happy New Year:

I will be unable to attend the meeting but I want to pass on my personal concerns. The M D will receive a separate email from myself as President of the Beaver Mines Community Association.

No doubt that the M D has to follow the terms of the Municipal Government Act. But it is quite disappointing to have the M D come forward in the last few months in what I feel is a very abrupt and heavy handed manner. Property owners must connect within three years, existing wells must be decommissioned, garbage pickup will be mandatory.

I believe it is a combination of Beaver Mines property owners not paying attention and voicing their concerns earlier in the process and previous councils thinking all is well and let's continue with the process until... nearing project completion the above issues became a concern.

The M D cannot be a bank and help property owners with hook up costs. But has the M D aggressively pursued other options like other grants being available? Existing wells cannot be operated after property owners connect to the new system? A lot of money has been spent on wells. Allowing them to continue to function would benefit the community and individual property owners as a backup system. Wording in the bylaw on page 10 states there is no guarantee of continuous supply. An extra asset to have in case of fire.

Finally, mandatory garbage pick up. Why? I have been a property owner in Beaver Mines for 43 years and have not had a need for regular garbage pickup. In the last year I returned my bin and therefore was not charged. If property owners need the service they are able to make a choice. Area farms and ranches get by ok without regular garbage pick up. And charging an undeveloped property?!! Sounds like a money grab.

I ask council to soften their position. The M D stands to gain in the long run with increased tax revenues and overall a net benefit for the M D by having this project completed. By net benefit I mean prospective new businesses and property owners will look at this project as a net positive for moving to the area.

Thank you

Rick Czarny

From: David McNeill
Sent: January 4, 2023 12:03 PM
Cc: Beaver Mines Community Association <beaverminescommunity@gmail.com>
Subject: Submission to public hearing for bylaw 1344-22

Council MD of Pincher Creek Box 279 Pincher Creek, AB T0K 1W0

Re: proposed bylaw 1344-22

Dear Councillors,

Here is our submission to the Public Hearing on January 10, 2023, concerning the above-mentioned bylaw.

In general, we very much support the submission of the Beaver Mines Community Association. More particularly, here are our concerns:

Re: Part 2, S. 8 - the CAO seems to have absolute authority throughout. Other jurisdictions have an appeal to council system if a person feels the CAO is being unreasonable. This would be a useful change to the proposed bylaw

Re: schedule A Part 1, section 2 - in reviewing other municipal utility bylaws, I see an approach to the No Guarantee of Continuous Supply that is more friendly than our MD's proposed bylaw. Other jurisdictions use phrases like: 'the municipality will try to repair as soon as practically possible', OR

'will endeavor to supply continuous service'. This would indicate good faith on the MD's part and perhaps lessen the feeling that the MD takes as little responsibility as possible but expects much responsibility from rate payers.

Sched B, Part 1, S. 2 Requirement to Connect to Water System. We feel we should be able to use our existing private water and waste water systems if they are functioning properly. After all, we have invested in, paid for and maintained them over the years. By being forced to hook into the new system we are paying twice - with no compensation for having to abandon our private water system. Sched B, Part 1, S. 3 Alternate Water Supply. If we absolutely have to connect to the new system, we feel we should be able to keep our existing private water system as long as it is totally separate from the new municipal water supply. If it's Alberta Environment requiring relicensing for the existing private water system, the MD should advocate on property owners' behalf to get a waiver on the relicensing requirement and any other requirement that might be imposed. After all, the old, private, system won't been changing in any way and if anything it will be used less than before and with fewer usage types, e.g just watering the lawn, fighting fires - no longer doing laundry or using it for drinking water etc. Allowing use of the old systems will reduce demand on the Oldman River Reservoir water.

Sched B, Part 3, S. 19 Interference with Fire Hydrants. I've seen this in other bylaws, so I guess it's common practice, BUT requiring the adjacent land owner (us, for instance) to maintain clearance around the hydrant does seem unfair. The hydrant serves the whole neighborhood, we are not here a lot in the summer, I'm older and may someday not be able to do much of that maintenance and besides the MD comes out regularly to mow grass throughout the hamlet so it seems to me the chore of keeping the hydrant clear can easily be done by them.

We are not quite sure where this suggestion fits in, but other jurisdictions, I found out, expressly prohibit emptying toxic substances into the storm drainage systems. The MD might want to add this prohibition.

The proposed bylaw reveals many hidden costs property owners and hooking into the new system is getting more costly, to the point that some owners may have to sell. So, we want assurance that Schedule E of the proposed bylaw lays out a fee structure that covers all costs (past, present and future) known to date that the MD expects hamlet property owners to pay for to cover operation and maintenance of the water/waste water system.

We feel the MD needs to be more creative in developing ways to help property owners pay for the costs of hook up, such as allowing it to be paid over several years as promised in the current Utilities bylaw. Enough from councillors grumbling that there has already been too much time and money put to this project. It's not the hamlet property owners' fault; many of us didn't want this project in the first place; many thought solutions to the possible danger of contaminated potable water could have been found that were cheaper and quicker to implement. Besides, we were never given a vote on the project. And now the little support we thought we were getting (as promised by earlier councils) has been eliminated. This council, as ongoing representatives of the municipal district, owes property owners more effort in easing this transition into the new system.

David McNeill Linda Farley Hamlet of Beaver Mines, MD Pincher Creek Pincher Creek, AB T0K 1W0

JAN 4/2023

RECEIVED JAN - 4 2023 TO "THE M.P. OF PINCHER CREEK M.D. OF PINCHER CREEK

GOOD DAY MY NAME IS JAMES MILLER AND I OWN THE PROPERTY OF 405 2MD AVE. IN BEAVER MINES. I USE MY CABIN ABOUT 2 POZEN DAYS A YEAR. WHEN THE NEW UTILITIES WERE PROPOSED TO BE INSTALCED, THE DERGUAS THAT BECRIE COULD HOOK UP OR NOT DEPENDING ON THIER SITUATION. NOW THAT THEY HAVE DONE THE WORK AND THE BILLS NEED TO BE PAID, THE MO IS CHANGING THE BYLAW TO BE A MANDITORY HOULUP. I UNDERSTAND THAT THERE IS A NEED TO SPRED THE COST OUT AMOUG ALL OF THE PROPERTYS. MY QUESTION: IS THE WATER GOING TO BE METERED AND THE SEWER AREFLECTION OF WATER USAGE, OR IS IT GOING TO BEA FLAT RATE PER MOUNTH. WITH A METER THE PARTTIME RESIDENTS WILL BE ABLE TO PAY THIER USAGE PORTION. OTHER WIGE WE WILL BE SUBSIPIZING THE FULLTIME RESIDENTS. AS A FLAT RATE, TO BUTS A TREMENDIOUS BURDEN ON THE PARTTIME RESIDENTS THAT IN NO WAY NANTED OR NEEDED THESE UTILITIES INSTALLED. JAMES MILLER THANK YOU TIM

# RECEIVED

M.D. of Pincher Creek Council - Proposed By Law 1344-22

JAN - 3 2023

Following receipt of the Nov. 2/22 letter, Dec.1 information session and Dec.14 question summary along with an analysis of the proposed by-law, we find the purpose and need suggested for it to be unnecessary,harmful,authoritarian and contrary to all previous information provided by the M.D.

This By-Law as presented should not be passed.

Items of specific concern are as follows;

The document refers to Utility Service Guidelines throughout. These USG are critical and yet are not to be ready until the by-law is passed. How can the "procedures, protocols, requirements, specifications" necessary to the by-law and critical to those impacted by it not be provided at this time?

Part 11 Provision of Utility Services- (5) Fees and Charges. Item 4

Connection to both systems within 90 days of notice will waive the Meter fee. The suggested completion is "Autumn 2023."

Given the uncertainty of both the date of completion and requirement placed on residents to be determined in the USG, how can this time frame be practical? There is no actual meter cost given in Sched."E." A one year time frame would be more reasonable.

Section 6,7,and 8, continuing into Part 111-Enforcement Sections 9 to 16 do not suggest that the by-law is anything but an attempt to intimidate residents into compliance. Is this really necessary? How did by-law 1320-20 ever pass considering what is proposed now?

Schedule "A" Part 11 - Service Connections

Sections 4 to 7. As no easements or right-of-ways are required on private property this section is not relevant. Nor is the need for any engineering designed connections. As the proposed fee waiver date suggested is DECEMBER 31/2022 (Section 6 sub (2) are any of the dates indicated realistic as well. Section 7 indicates the property owner is responsible for that portion of the lines in M.D. right-of way that requires repair. How can the property owner become liable for work completed by the contractor under supervision by the consultant representing the M.D.? Section 10 - Compliance subsection (1) Without definition of all the requirements listed, how can a customer "ensure" unknown entities?

Part 111 - Utility Accounts, Section 20 Obligation to pay, subsection 6.

Every owner of a property receiving Solid Waste Services shall pay, and Schedule "D" Section 3 Waste Collection Fees, indicate that every property in the Hamlet pays for the service whether it is used or not. This is nothing more than a money grab. This service has been optional in the past. What happened to the user pay concept ? If it is not needed or used is it ethical or fair to charge everyone. Is this service essential and has there ever been a survey to ascertain the continuance of it. Other areas within the M.D. utilise the new Eco center in Pincher Creek. Why is this option not available to everyone?

Schedule "B" Terms and Conditions - Part 1 - General Water Service Provisions ;Section 2 Requirement to Connect to Water System.

This mandatory connection section, which also allows an exemption by a CAO at their discretion, is an unnecessary intrusion.

By also stating that the M.D. may enter property and force the connections at the owner's cost, it becomes a potential point of conflict.

Section 3 states existing water wells must be decommissioned , but can be allowed by a CAO under certain terms and conditions.

This contradicts the answers given to the question of retaining existing wells where it indicates jurisdiction belongs with AEP for wells with a "Household Right." For owners that have the intention of keeping wells for yard use only, which authority prevails? Given the investment residents have put into existing wells and potential cost to decommission, why is this a concern to the M.D.Unless monetary compensation is available there should be no mention of this item in the by-law.

Section 14 Remote Meter Reading. As it has been stated that only remote read meters are being provided, why is this section necessary?

Part 111- Fire Protection Section 19 - the concern here is that there have already been hydrants installed by the contractor under the consultants supervision within the 3 foot clear zone required from existing fences/trees. Unless the M.D. wants to have these hydrants moved, this needs to be revised.

Schedule "C" T/C of WW Services.

Section 2 Mandatory connection to sewer system, unless exempt by the CAO at their discretion, or approved by the CAO to use any private disposal system. Again, an area of confusion in that the answers provided to questions to the M.D. stated that decommissioning is not a prerequisite for municipal connection, but having a plan will be. "The M.D. does not have direct oversight....." The by-law is not clear as to under what conditions can an exemption be granted. Where is the expertise with this authority?

Schedule "D" Solid waste services.

As referenced above this section is not justified.

The "Waste Receptacle " is not identified, nor suggested that it would be provided to properties that require one. The definitions section does not mention the receptacle, only describing a "Garbage Bag". Existing waste collection is not a safe practice along 1ST. Ave. S.H. 774 as the truck has to make stops in the travel lanes of a provincial highway. Is this practice acceptable to A.T.

This By-Law should be deferred until the following occurs;

A - All contract work for both water and sewer systems is completed, tested, accepted, commissioned and in service at an appropriate time for connections to the systems.

B - The Utility Services Guidelines are completed and available for review.

C - All permits, fees, applications, procedures or requirements with any associated costs are made known to residents.

D - M.D. administration, or their representatives contact each individual property owner and do an on-site inspection of their properties to provide information specific to each of the requirements spelled out in the USG. This will provide opportunity for an honest and open dialogue, hopefully removing the distrust and bad feelings that have arisen lately. E - "Mandatory" is either removed or the timeline is extended

Should this bylaw continue to be fast tracked to a point where a vote is taken without consideration for the points being raised, council will lose trust and the statement " We will support residents wherever possible " will have no meaning.

Any vote on this bylaw should be recorded.

Bert Ayrose Mailyn M. Nyrose